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LEARNING OBJECTIVES

The unit aims to familiarise the learners about some of the important tools used by
practitioners to achieve the desired corporate communication goal. At the end of the
chapter, the learners would have basic understanding about the following important
tools of corporate communication:
 Lobbying
 Sponsorship
 Corporate Identity
1.2 INTRODUCTION
According to www.businessdictionary.com, Tool is "an item or implement used for a
specific purpose. A tool can be a physical object such as mechanical tools including
saws and hammers or a technical object such as a web authoring tool or software
program. Furthermore, a concept can also be
considered a tool". The Longman Dictionary of
Contemporary English define tool as "a skill or
method of doing a particular task". In similar
line, Corporate Communication Tool refers to
all the systems, methodologies, applications,
skills, equipment, programme etc. used by
organisations to achieve their corporate
communication objectives and improve their
communication with internal and external
stakeholders.
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In the previous block we discussed about the basic concepts of corporate
communication and its functions as well as significance in today's communication
driven society. Corporate Communication function has developed various tools and
strategies to achieve the organisational objectives. Over a period of times the tools of
corporate communication has been expanded with additions of newer techniques and
methods in line with the changing business environment and need. Some of the
important tools of Corporate Communication are Corporate Identity, Lobbying,
Sponsorship, Employee Relations, Financial Relations, Consumer Relations, and
Media Relations etc.
While developing corporate communication campaign, it is important to
choose the right corporate communication tool. The selection of the tools should be
based on the desired goal, issues to deal with, message to deliver, existing
communication activities, channels available, stakeholder to manage and the existing
relationship with the stakeholder. It should not be the other way around i.e. to
finalise a tool and then start planning on how to use it effectively. Selecting the right
tool in accordance based on the above considerations can result in achieving the
expected goal and enhancing the overall image of the organisation.
In this unit we will discuss about three important corporate communication tools:
Lobbying, Sponsorship and Corporate Identity.
1.3 LOBBYING
As a news report in the Economic Times (Mumbai Edition, Page 13, December 20,
2019), Senior executives of some of the big corporate organisations of India had a
pre-budget meeting with the Finance Minister. The industry body pitched for
'converging corporate tax to 15% over 3 years, easing regulatory hurdles as well as
Income Tax Cut. Similarly The Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and
Industry (FICCI), as per the report in the same newspaper (Mumbai Edition, Page
11, December 14, 2019), has submitted a pre-budget memorandum to the Finance
Ministry and urged for
various measures tax relief,
incentivising
employment
and other etc. Such activities
are aimed at influenced the
forthcoming budget. These
are nothing but a kind of
'lobbying' by the corporate
India to influence the budget
in their favour.
1.3.1 Origin of the Word:
According to BBC (2008),
the word 'Lobbying' comes from the 'Lobbies or hallways of Parliament' where
Members of Parliament (MPs) and peers meet before and after debate in the
parliament. However, some scholar associate the origin of the word 'Lobbying' with
US President Ulysses S. Grant (in office from 1869–1877), who had the habit of
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visiting the lobby of Washington's Willard Hotel. Here he found several people, who
sought informal meeting, present their cases and persuade him for various decisions.
However, some scholar associate the origin of the word 'Lobbying' with US
President Ulysses S. Grant (in office from 1869–1877), who had the habit of visiting
the lobby of Washington's Willard Hotel. Here he faced several people who tried to
seek informal meeting with the president and present their cases (Joos, 2011).
Irrespective of Origin of the term 'Lobbying', history of the act is dates back to
time immemorial. It is one of the oldest professions in the world. "Whenever an
individual, or group of individuals, wields power over society, there will be other
individuals or groups of individuals who will have tried to persuade them to exercise
that power in a particular way. Lobbying is both natural and inevitable" (Zetter,
2008. p. 6).
1.3.2 Definitions and Concepts
The modern practice of Lobbying refers to the work of private companies known as
lobbyists which are employed by organisations to represent their views to
Parliament in a variety of ways - by arranging meetings, organising protests or
providing briefing material (news.bbc.co.uk, 2008). Zetter (2008), define Lobbying,
as "the process of seeking to influence government and its institutions by informing
the public policy agenda" (p. 3). Similarly, Farnel (1994) defines lobbying as an
activity which consists in carrying out interventions which should influence directly
or indirectly any process of elaboration, application or interpretation of legislative
measures, standards, rules and, more generally, any action or decision taken by the
leading public authorities (p. 20). Website of the British Parliament defines
Lobbying as "the practice of individuals and organisations trying to influence the
opinions of MPs and Lords. Methods of lobbying vary and can range from sending
letters, making presentations, providing briefing material to Members and organised
rallies".
According to Miller (2000) "any Action designed to influence the action of
institutions or government" can be considered as Lobbying. "It covers all parts of
central and local government and other public bodies. Its scope includes legislation,
regularly and policy decisions and negotiations on public sector contract and
grants" (Miller, 2000, p. 4).
According Organisation for
A Lobbyist is a person whose who takes
Economic
Cooperation
and
up activities to influence public officials
Development (OECD), "Lobbying
and legislative body members on a
can be an effort to influence different
regulation, policy, actions or decision by
levels of government (local, national, the government on behalf of an individual
or organisation or group.
regional or transnational) or
different branches of government
(judicial, legislative or executive) (p.22).
It can be concluded that the primary objective of lobbying is to "influence" the
public authorities. When someone lobbies for something, he or she makes attempt to
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convince the public authorities to take desired decision. Several organisations and
individuals do lobbying for various purposes. It can be done directly by the
organisation or individual or can be taken up or through specialised agencies.
Lobbying can be of two forms: direct or grassroots. When an attempt is made
to directly reach out the public authorities who participate or have say in making the
target policies or legislation or decision, it is called direct lobbying.
On the contrary, grassroots lobbying refer to "any effort to organize,
coordinate or implore others to contact public officials in order to affect public
policy" (Miyo, 2010, p. 2). Unlike direct lobbying, grassroots lobbying involves
delivering the message to the public authorities indirectly. It involves mobilising the
mass or section of the mass to influence the public authorities on an issue. Lobbying
is taken up by various organisations including companies, non-profit organisations,
political groups, activist groups even government organisations. Lobbying can be
either defensive or offensive depending upon the organisation's need. If the lobbying
activities aim to 'abolish or amend an existing law', it is defensive. However, it is
'aimed at pushing the authorities to create a law' it is offensive (Belasen, 2008).
1.3.3 Lobbying a Corporate Communication Tool
Milbrath was one of the first scholars to consider lobbying with a
communication perspective. He argued that "lobbying process is essentially a
communication process" (p.33). In order to influence the decision of public
authorities needs effective communication. There is no alternative to communication
to influence or change perception. "The task of the lobbyist is to figure out how he
can handle communications most effectively in order to get through to decision
makers," he writes. Later in his book The Washington lobbyists (1963) Milbrath
defined lobbying as "the stimulation and transmission of a communication, by
someone other than a citizen acting on his own behalf, directed to a governmental
decision maker with the hope of influencing his decision" (p. 8).
Later on the communication aspect of lobbying was highlighted by various
scholars. According to Dolphin (1999), Lobbying is a communication process which
seeks to bring views to bear on those who might be influential to an organisation (p.
81). It is a 'means of communication' used by organisations to influence external
stakeholders. A lobbyist or persona who lobbies for an organisation's behalf
communicates facts and information to the external stakeholder groups to influence
their opinion and gather support in favour of the organisation on an issue (Dolphin,
1999, p. 81 & 82). Arguing Lobbying as a two way communication process Dondero
& Lunch (2005) say
Lobbyists perform three primary functions in the legislative arena: i)
disseminate information needed for crafting legislation to legislators and their
staff, 2) aggregate public opinion around major issues affecting their clients
and 3) help set the political agenda by creating coalition to support or
oppose specific bills. (p.87)
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Transparency International Ireland (2015) defines lobbying as „any direct or
indirect communication with public officials, political decision-makers or
representatives for the purposes of influencing public decision-making, and carried
out by or on behalf of any organised group‟ (p. 6).
Lobbying is basically a communication activity in which Lobbyists is
involved in sharing of different type information with the public authorities.
Lobbyists package the information into effective messages and deliver the same
through most suitable means of communication. Lobbying primarily deals with the
legislatures, bureaucrats, public institutions and related organisations, which
constitute one of major external - more specifically government - stakeholder group
for an organisation. Lobbyists also make effort to establish and maintain a
favourable relationship with these stakeholder groups and the organisation to achieve
the desired objective. Maloney (1997) argue that "Lobbying is inside public relations
practice because it is a communication based activity centred on a group (or
organisation, in the language of management studies) which seeks to persuade and
negotiate with those of its stakeholders in government on matters of opportunity and
/or threat" (p. 174).Corporate Communicators, while lobbying, addresses the
government organisations, public authorities, and related stakeholder groups such as
industry associations, consumer protection groups, environmental groups etc.
through various communication activities. According to Dolphin (1999) successful
lobbying involves corporate communicators in
• Identifying those people or groups in public life who may be helpful in the
pursuit of your cause
•

carrying our research to establish the opinion, positions and desired behaviour
of those whose support you hope to elicit - thus gaining the knowledge that will
enable you to win the support of those target groups

•

recommending the stance that the organisation should take upon the issues

•

soliciting the support of potentially influential external groups such as members
of parliament and government ministers - those who you consider may be
potentially sympathetic and how might be prepare to seek to influence their
colleagues on your organisation's behalf (p. 82)

1.3.4 Importance of Lobbying
Several scholars agree that Lobbying is an important activity in a democratic
process. It helps organisations present their perspective on important issues to the
decision makers. Simultaneously, it helps public authorities by updating them with
information on subjects in which they may not be conversant, so that they can take a
better decision. Lobbying presents different perspectives on an issue to aid the public
authorities' knowledge.
7

According to European Public Affairs Consultancies‟ Association (EPACA), "there
are essentially two theoretical approaches to lobbying. The first is based on the
group theory of politics: a democratic society must use a group process to make
political decisions. This will include citizens organised into groups to influence
decision-makers. The second approach considers lobbying as an ―aspect of the
legislative process" (https://epaca.org/about-lobbying/).
Lobbying allows common citizens to take part in the policy making process. With
the help of lobbyists citizen without the opportunity and access to present their case
to the government can reach out the policy makers. Lobbyists also provide expertise
and knowledge on important issues to the public authorities, off course for the
interest of the organisation which they represent. But such information helps in
making an informed decision by the policy makers. Weiser (2019) argues that
without lobbying "governments would struggle to sort out the many, many
competing interests of its citizens. Fortunately, lobbying provides access to
government legislators, acts as an educational tool, and allows individual interests to
gain power in numbers". Souza and Dale (1999) said "Lobbying is an important part
of the democratic process. Always has been. Always will be. There is nothing wrong
with paying consultants for practical advice. Businessmen, charities and trade
associations are not experts on the political system so they pay people who are"
(p.9).
1.3.5 Lobbying in India
Lobbying in India is one of the most controversial issues in India. Unlike other USA
or European countries there is no regulation on lobbying in our country. However,
several organisations, including business houses, NGOs and other interest groups are
lobbying or lobbied on various issues on different point of time. In fact, we do not
know what the policy decisions are taken by the government due to influence of
various organisations or interest groups. Lobbying has been a tool for various
industry associations to engage with government on different issues. As Sanyal and
Kalra (2013) say
Lobbying in India is unregulated but not illegal. Many interest groups actively
lobby with the government for change in laws and policy decisions. Interest
groups not only include corporates, but also farmers’ associations, women’s
organisations, trade unions and environmental groups. For example, women’s
groups campaigned for the Domestic Violence Act; MKSS, a coalition of
NGOs, campaigned for a Right to Information Act; Greenpeace lobbies
against use of nuclear power plants and other technologies that degrade the
environment.
Though Lobbying is an established industry in America and European countries,
professional lobbying services in India is offered by about few public relations firms.
8

Besides, there are several individuals, non-profit organisations, industry associations
and in-house team of organisations who also offer lobbying services.
Lobbying Activities: Lobbyists take up various activities to reach out public
authorities, present the case of the organisation which they represent and influence
the decision or policy or legislation.
Zetter (2008) categorizes Lobbying
programmes into the following types:
Profile Raising: Such lobbying activities are aimed at enhancing the profile of the
organisations. It creates awareness among the public authorities about the
organisations, its activities and products or services etc. This helps in reaching out
the public authorities – legislators and bureaucrats – when issues of concern arise.
For this the lobbyists regularly organises informal meeting with concerned
authorities.
Contact programme: Such lobbying programmes establish relationship with between
the public authorities and the organisation. It is undertaken generally during
peacetime. Existence of established contact helps to get access to the public
authorities at the time of need. While establishing contact the lobbyists make
research about the people who can contribute to make decision on the issue of
interest and their inclination etc. Then the lobbyists contact the relevant people and
brief them about the
Principles for Responsible Lobbying
organization
to
establish
the
• Legitimacy: Legitimate lobbying will never be
relationship.
Once
inconsistent with the public interest.
contact is established
• Transparency: Transparency means that lobbyists
the lobbyists ensures
and organisations will be open and truthful in their
that it is maintained
through
various
communications with their stakeholders.
activities.
Regular
• Consistency: Lobbyists and organisations should
informal meetings help
practice what they preach.
in
this
direction.
Knowing
the
concerned authority,
his/her
background,
the institution etc also
helps in managing the
relationship.

• Accountability: Lobbyists and organisations should
be accountable to stakeholders for their actions.
• Opportunity: Organisations should identify issues
that further the public interest and are of common
concern on which they can lobby together.
(Source: Transparency International Ireland (2015), Responsible Lobbying)

Policy shaping: This
involves working with political parties to shape up their perspective on the issues of
concern. For this one has understand the existing view of the political parties. Then
the lobbyists try to mould the view in favour of the organisation's need by sharing
favourable information and argument.
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Third party endorsement: Sometimes Lobbyists engage third party agencies such as
reputed research institutes, academic organisations, industry associations, think
tanks, non-profit organisations etc. to make their argument strong enough so that the
public authorities would listen. Reputed third party agencies can be commissioned to
undertake a research and publish a supportive documents / paper. Join industry
associations and presenting the case through it also helps.
Lobbyists need to be updated about what happening in the socio-political
environment. For this they regularly monitor political, judicial, bureaucratic and
social the environment through various means such as media, publication by various
organisaitons, existing record and formal/informal discussion with the stakeholder
and related group. Similarly, as the public relations practitioners build and maintain
relationship with journalists, lobbyists build and maintain relationship with
government. Media is an effective tool in lobbying programme. "It can, however, be
a double edged tool. Either the media itself can turn against you or your campaign,
or the people you are trying to influence – the politicians or the civil servants – can
resent the fact that you have brought the media into the equation. So, it is more often
than not the tool of last resort where public affairs campaigns are concerned"
(Zetter, 2008, p. 91).
WHAT CAN GO WRONG WITH LOBBYING?

1. Making payments to public officials or their associates to influence government
decisions. This is sometimes known as „trade in influence‟. In other jurisdictions
this is known as bribery.
2. Misleading policy makers or the public about the harm caused by specific proposals
to the environment or health and safety of the public. Or ignoring or seeking to cast
doubt on irrefutable scientific evidence that undermines the lobbyist‟s positions.
3. Using trade or industry groups to make statements on public policy that are at odds
with the companies‟ own public announcements.
4. Secretly funding citizen groups and campaigns to lobby for decisions that benefit
private interests (a practice sometimes known as „astro-turfing‟).
5. Funding political candidates and parties in the hope or expectation that they will
prioritise their funders‟ interests.
6. Influencing public policy and decisions by offering policy makers and regulators
future employment in an organisation affected by their decisions or paying staff to
take up temporary employment in public bodies (a practice known as „revolving
doors‟).
(Source: Transparency International Ireland (2015), Responsible Lobbying)
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1.4

SPONSORSHIP

Sponsorship is a form of association between a Company or Brand or Person and an
external organisation or individual in which the former (Company or Brand)
supports, financially or otherwise, a programme or activity managed by the later
(organisation or individual) in exchange of recognition. It is a corporate
communication tool through which the corporate extends supports to an activity,
event, venture, person or organisation with an objective to get favourable publicity.
The Company or Brand or Person which provides the supports is known as Sponsor.
1.4.1 Concept and Definition of Sponsorship
The concept of sponsorship has its origin in the ancient Greek and Roman era.
(Dolphin, 1999 & Masterman,2007). Rich people and organisations supported
various activities for social benefits as part of their philanthropic contribution. It got
momentum during 20th century in which several business organisations supported
various kinds of sports and social events, especially for philanthropic reasons. The
1984 Olympics held at Los Angeles started a new trend. It was entirely funded by
the private organisations and made a profit. This attracted attention of many events
owners and sponsors about the possible value of sponsorship in corporate and brand
image development. Later technological development such as television, internet,
mobile telephone etc. made sponsorship more attractive for business organisations
(Masterman, 2007).
In a sponsorship arrangement, there are three important elements. First is the
organisation or individual who makes provision of resource of funds, goods or
services. The second important element is a property (typically an event, an activity,
a programme or a place or an organisation) for which provision of support in
financial or in kind is made. Third element is the Rights Owner, who owns the
property. The rights owner uses the support of the sponsor for the property and in
return gives certain rights to the sponsor.
Arguing sponsorship as a communication tool, Masterman (2007) define sponsorship
as "a mutually beneficial arrangement that consists of the provision of resources of
funds, goods and/or services by an individual or body (the sponsor) to an individual
or body (rights owner) in return for a set of rights that can be used in
communications activity, for the achievement of objectives for commercial gain" (p.
30). According to Beger (2018) sponsoring is "a specialised kind of Corporate
Communication. It stands for the material support of a well-targeted event, activity,
individual or organisation by an unrelated partner" (p. 64).
From a philanthropic or charitable perspective sponsorship has emerged to be one of
the best communication tools beyond the traditional mass media. It provides a
quantifiable business benefits or value for money, if managed efficiently. First of all
it creates a lot of publicity and goodwill for the sponsor, which in turn helps the
11

sponsor to build its reputation and organisational profile. As a communication tool
sponsorship is highly cost effective as it can easily and quickly reach a huge number
of people.
Sponsored Property: According to Collett and Fenton (2011), the sponsored
property may be an event or activity that is individual or infrastructural in nature
(p.9). The Sponsored Property is categories into the following types by the authors:
1. Events: Sporting, Cultural, Educational, Social, Community and
Conferences
2. Teams: Sports, Performers, Schools, Explorers
3. Individuals: Competitors, Artistes, Students and Adventurers
4. Programmes: governmental, charity, grass roots, social, community,
awards/prizes
5. Exhibitions/Shows: Art, Fashion, Theatrical, Photography, Festivals and
Film
6. Media: Print, Broadcast, Web, Outdoor and Mobile
7. Bodies: Professional Associations,

Consumer groups, Sports governing

bodies, Charities, Arts organizations and Environmental groups
8. Infrastructure: Stadia, Theatres/museums/galleries/concert halls, Other
buildings, e.g. airports, Stately homes, heritage sites, Attractions, theme
parks, Public spaces, bridges, roundabouts, etc., Equipment, information data
and Transport
Source: Collett, P., & Fenton, W. (2013). The sponsorship handbook

1.4.2 Advantages of Sponsorship
Sponsorship is one of the very effective corporate communication tools that provide
opportunity for good publicity and building corporate reputation. It also helps in
improving community relations as association with and supports to a local cause or
event places the organisation in a positive manner. The public considers the
organisation as part of the community. According to Meyer (1999), Sponsorship
"can enhance a company's image and visibility; differentiate the company from
competitors; help develop closer relationships with current and prospective
customers; showcase products and services; unload obsolete inventory; and allow
the company to compete more effectively against bigger firms that have much larger
advertising budgets. In addition, tickets to sponsored events can be used as
incentives for employees, vendors, and customers and to promote worker loyalty.
And proponents say that if sponsorships are well-conceived and strategic, they can
boost sales—both long-term and short-term—as they improve the community
12

through the events they support." (p. 38). Various companies are using sponsorship
opportunities to improve their corporate or brand image, credibility and goodwill.
Not only the large business organisations, smaller organisations are also now
sponsoring various activities which are attractive for their target market or audience.
Let's discuss some of the advantages of sponsorship, as argued by Dolphin (1999)
from the corporate communication perspective:

Multiple Communication Opportunities: Sponsorship creates a lot of
communication opportunities. Organisations which sponsor a sponsorship property
can disseminate its message through advertising, public relations, sales promotion
and other opportunity given by the sponsored property owner (Masterman, 2007).
Sponsors can utilise one or more of these opportunity to generate publicity and
goodwill for their respective corporate or product brand. For Example, Byju's, an
educational technology company became the jersey sponsor of Indian Cricket Team.
As part of the deal, Byju's name/logo is printed in the jersey of Indian Cricket
Players while they are playing for the country. Through sponsorship arrangement
Byju's succeeded in drawing attention of people throughout the country.
Opportunity for Building Awareness and Image: Sponsorship gives creates
opportunity for visibility and increasing awareness about product or brand for the
sponsor. Organisations which receive the sponsorship support usually acknowledge
the support by placing the logo / name of the sponsor (or the product) prominently at
different places or in the event publicity materials. For example the three match T20
Cricket series between India and South Africa in September 2019 was named as
'Paytm T20 Trophy' as PayTM was the lead sponsor of the series. Similarly, Odisha
Literary Festival 2019 recognised all its sponsors by placing the logo of each
sponsor in the stage. Logo of Aditya Birla Group, which was the main sponsor, was
placed prominently. In addition to increasing awareness about corporate or product,
association with right property can also contribute in creating or enhancing positive
image for the sponsor.
Fulfilling Social Obligations: Philanthropy or giving back to the society was the
initial reason for organisations and individuals for entering into sponsorship
arrangement. Several companies sponsor different social initiatives with an objective
to get involved with the community and demonstrate their social responsibility. It is
considered as a means of developing corporate image and good corporate
citizenship. As Dolphin (1999) say, sponsorship is "a tool that provides the
organization with the ‟halo‟ effect - the benefits derived from charitable or
community involvement" (p. 84). For example, Jindal Steel & Power Ltd as a part of
its Corporate Social Responsibility regularly sponsors District Level Football
tournament at Angul in which teams from different parts of the district participate.
This earns a lot of goodwill for the company and helps to connect with the local
community.
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Entering International Market: Sponsorship is also one of the key communication
tools to establish the brand in international markets. In the context of international
communications, according to Dolphin (1999), "sponsorship can be a powerful
means of enabling a corporation to reach and gain entry to international markets; for
example it can facilitate the process of crossing new frontiers. In fact sponsorship
(especially in the context of supporting brand and product PR) may well be chosen
as a key tool to help shape the image of the corporation in international markets" (p.
85). For example when Austrian company Redbull entered US market, it opted for
sponsoring sports competitions such as diving and surfing etc. instead of traditional
mass media advertising. It helped Redbull to differentiate its brand in the market and
it became a well-known brand in US.
1.4.3 Objective of Sponsorship
Objective of Sponsorship varies according to the organistion's need and the target
audience. Setting the right objective is important to get maximum value out of the
sponsorship arrangement. Citing Sponsorship Assessment and Evaluation
Guidelines, the European Sponsorship Association (ESA), Collett and Fenton
(2011), categorise sponsorship objectives intro three broad groups: Brand Building,
Commercial and Engagement
Brand Building is the primary objective of most of the sponsorship. When the
sponsorship has such objectives the sponsor focuses on creating brand awareness
and promoting the brand. Sponsorship can also have commercial objectives like
sales increasing, expanding market, product promotion etc. Several companies,
which use local resources for their operation, also use sponsorship to secure their
social license to operate. According to Beger (2018) the typical business
expectations from Sponsorship includes:
Commitment: Association with strategically selected Property and Organisaion
through sponsorship creates / reinforces 'the external and internal emotional
commitment to the company/brand'.
Image Promotion: Building and enhancing brand image has been one of the major
reasons for companies to sponsor.
Building Awareness: Sponsorship provides excellent opportunity for reaching out
wider audience to spread brand awareness and raise the organisation's profile.
Showcasing: Sponsorship opportunities can be utilised to showcase various features
or the company or its product/services
Competition: Sponsorship provides a lot of competitive advantages. Many
companies enter into sponsorship arrangement with a condition that they will be
14

exclusive sponsor for the property and no competing company can be associated as a
sponsor.
Increasing Sales: Companies can also increase their sales through sponsorship
deals.
Relationship Building: Sponsorship 'facilitates the soft building of relationships' by
disseminating the message in a less commercial way. Sponsorship helps in creating
memorable experience for the target audience which in turn helps in building long
term relationship between the Company and its Stakeholder/consumer (Beger,
2018).

Media Publicity: Sponsorship also creates good media coverage, if the sponsored
property and property owner is attractive enough.
Employee Motivation: Sponsorship can also help in improving employee
motivation and attracting new talents.
1.4.4 How to select sponsorship
Though sponsorship has several benefits for an organisation, selecting the right
event, organisation, programme or individual for sponsorship is highly important. A
sponsor, before committing any kind sponsorship needs to evaluate objective, target
audience and success prospect etc. of event or programme. Assessing the past record
and reputation of the organisation or individual who is organising the programme or
event is also important. Above all, the event or programme or organisation to be
sponsored should be aligned with the organisational and brand objective of the
sponsor (Beger, 2018).
While seeking sponsorship from a company, an organisation submits a sponsorship
proposal. The Proposal contains information about the organisation, description
about the event or programme to be sponsored, details of benefits of sponsorship,
target audience or expected audience to participate, tentative programme, confirmed
or probable speakers / guests, past record etc. The benefit details can vary according
to level of sponsorship and cost. Evaluating the sponsorship proposal is important
success of the sponsorship. Here are some suggested points to consider while
selecting an event or programme for sponsorship:
 Objectives: The Sponsors should be clear about why they want to sponsor.
Whether it is image promotion or community engagement having clear objectives
helps in maximising the benefits from sponsorship.
 Suitability of the Property: Whether the programme or event to be sponsored
fits to the organisation's objective and reputation, needs to be evaluated.
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1.5

Sponsorship should help in reaching the right target audience and go with the
corporate image.
Benefit Package: Knowing what the benefits and the kind of opportunity the
sponsorship gives is very important while deciding any sponsorship. The Price
also varies according to the benefit packages.
Sponsor's Budget: Sponsorship has cost. The property may be very attractive
but the organisation's budget may not allow. Secondly, only entering into
sponsorship is not enough. The Sponsors needs to have additional budget to
leverage the benefits derived from the sponsorship. For example, a company gets
free advertising space for sponsoring a conference for a cost. In order to use the
free space, the company may again need additional budget to create material for
publicity.
Possible Impact: The sponsoring companies need to think about the possible
impact of the sponsorship. How the present stakeholders will perceive the
sponsorship. e.g. if an educational institute sponsors a 'disco night', it may not
send the right message.
The Property Owner: Rights Owner or the organisation which organises the
event or programme is a critical element in any sponsorship arrangement. It is
important to evaluate the reputation and credibility of the property owner, its past
record, persons associated with it, its strength and capacity to manage and deliver
the promises etc.
Other Sponsors: Some events or programme, especially big ticket events, get
more than one sponsorship. While associating with such properties, the sponsors
need to be careful about who other are associating and at what level. Whether
other sponsors would dominate the organisation.
CORPORATE IDENTITY

1.5.1 Concept and Definitions
Every individual has an identity that distinguishes him/her from others. For example,
our name, our parents and family, our birth place, our profession, our expertise etc.
gives us distinctive identity. Same also applies to the Corporate Organisations. Like
individual identity corporate identity identifies organisations and its unique qualities.
Organisations spend thousands of rupees to develop and establish their Corporate
Identity. For example When Hero Honda, the makers of two wheelers in India
moved out of the joint venture with Honda of Japan, the new company, Hero
MotoCorp spent about Rs. 100 Crore to establish its new corporate identity with new
logo.
Originally Corporate Identity has a connection with graphic design and different
forms of symbolism of an organisation. It was synonymous with the name, logo,
visual identification and company house style of the organisation (van Riel &
Balmer, 1997). However, as the organisations realised that management of these
symbolism and graphics can help in differentiating the organisation and its products
16

or services as well as result in various other benefits, the concept of corporate
identity emerged. It has now become a strategic management tool for various
companies across the globe.
The there is no single universally accepted definitions of 'Corporate Identity'.
Several scholars given different definitions highlight one or more perspectives.
According to Downey (1986), "Corporate Identity is the sum of all the factors that
define and project what an organisation is, and where it is going - its business mix,
management style, communications policies and practices, nomenclature,
competences, as well as market and competitive distinction" (p. 7).
van Riel and Berens (2001) define Corporate Identity a "a company’s selfpresentation, that is, the managed cues or signals that an organization offers about
itself to stakeholders. Corporate identity is thus the manifestation of the
organization’s characteristics, that is, the abstract and relatively constant features
that distinguish it from other organizations" (p. 45). Melewar and Karaosmanoglu
(2005) define Corporate Identity as "the presentation of an organisation to every
stakeholder. It is what makes an organisation unique and it incorporates the
organisation’s communication, design, culture, behaviour, structure, industry
identity and strategy. It is thus intrinsically related to both the corporate personality
and image" (p. 864).
Corporate Identity is presentation of organisation's true characteristics that gives
makes it unique in the market. According to Beger (2018), "creating a corporate
identity is to making a difference for a company from other corporations by
developing and maintaining a distinct corporate personality. The objective is to use
corporate identity to differentiate one company from others, thus helping a
company’s positioning within its competitive environment" (p. 507).
The Strathclyde Statement by The International Corporate Identity Group
Every organisation has an identity.
It articulates the corporate ethos, aims and values and presents a sense of
individuality that can help to differentiate the organisation within its competitive
environment. When well-managed, corporate identity can be a powerful means of
integrating the many disciplines and activities essential to an organisation’s success.
It can also provide the visual cohesion necessary to ensure that all corporate
communications are coherent with each other and result in an image consistent with
the organisation’s defining ethos and character.
By effectively managing its corporate identity an organisation can build
understanding and commitment among its diverse stakeholders. This can be
manifested in an ability to attract and retain customers and employees, achieve

17

strategic alliances, gain the support of financial markets and generate a sense of
direction and purpose.
Corporate identity is a strategic issue.
Source: https://www.icig.org.uk/the-strathclyde-statement

1.5.2 Types of Corporate Identity
Olins (1989) as cited by Dolphin (1999) there are three approaches to Corproate
Identity. These are Monolithic, Endorsed and Branded
Monolithic: In monolithic corporate identity approach, the organisaition relies only
on a single Identity, which is all embracing. The product or services by the
organization carries the same identity. Single name and visual system is used
throughout all its interactions. Sony and Samsung are examples of monolithic
identity.
Endorsed: In endorsed corporate identity, the identity of parent company is tagged
or endorsed with the subsidiary company's identity. Both the parent company and the
subsidiary company maintains their own recognizable identity but the subsidiary
company is endorsed by the parent company. For example when Tata Steel acquired
Bhushan Steel Ltd, it renamed the later as Tata Steel BSL Ltd. Nestle is another
example of such corporate identity type. All the product logo of nestle are endorsed
with the Nestle logo.
Branded: In Branded Corporate Identity the parent company's identity is not
recognizable whereas the subsidiary companies or product segment get their own
corporate identity. Individual identity of subsidiary companies or product segments
is developed without referring the identity of the parent company. Companies having
different products like Hindustan Unliver or Procter & Gamble adopt this type of
identity.
All the types of Corporate Identity have their own strength and weakness.
Companies can choose any of the type depending upon the market, its strength and
weaknesses, business model, competition, business goal etc.
1.5.3 Importance & Benefits of Corporate identity
From just graphic design, Corporate Identity has emerged as a powerful tool for
organisations to communicate their values and personalities. It is highly important
for organisations to establish and be successful and leave a positive impact in the
competitive market. Not just the visual aspects of an organisation's appearance, it
also includes the behaviour and true character of the organisation. Various factors in
the changing the business dynamics have necessitated the need for strategic
management of corporate identity. According to Balmer & Gray (2003) these factors
are:
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Acceleration of product life cycles: In the fast changing technological world,
product life cycle has been accelerated especially in electronics segment. For
example the cassettes and tape recorders which were once the vehicle for audio
industry have been replaced by the CDs and then DVDs. Companies having strong
corporate identity such as Sony could manage to survive as its names added value to
its products "by reducing uncertainty in the minds of their customers, retailers and
distributors" (Balmer & Gray, 2003).
Deregulation: Deregulation is another important factor that makes corporate
identity an important strategic tool. With de regulation, market dynamics is
changing, the competition and business environment is also affected. In such
scenario, companies can leverage their consistent and good corporate identity to
build a positive image and reputation.
Privatisation programmes: Privatisation or when a company's management is
shifted from government ownership to private ownership, the company are
'vulnerable to identity crises'. The company under the new management needs to
come out of the public sector shadow and position itself in the market. It has also to
differentiate itself from the competition and build its unique space. Managing
corporate identity strategically is highly important.
Increased competition: The market has become more competitive with entry of
new companies and also diversification of product by existing ones. Good Corporate
Identity is highly important in drawing attention of the stakeholders – consumers,
investors, suppliers etc. – in order to compete in the market.
Globalisation and the establishment of free trade areas: In the globalised world,
companies are expanding their presence across the world with their products and
services. "A pervasive image and favourable reputation can be a powerful
competitive weapon for a firm expanding internationally," according to
Balmer&Gray (2003, p. 129). Companies like Coca-Cola and McDonald could be
very successful in expanding their business throughout the world due to their high
profile corporate identities.
Mergers and acquisitions and disinvestment: Merger, acquisitions and
disinvestment has impacted business profile of several organisations. Management
of corporate identity is very important in establishing the uniqueness of the new
entity due to merger, acquisitions and disinvestment. The new organisation needs to
come out of the of its image of association with previous owner or partners. e.g.,
when Hero Honda became Hero MotoCorp after exiting the JV with Honda motors,
it spent huge amount in building its new identity.
Shortage of high calibre personnel: In today's knowledge driven economy,
companies needs to attract and retain skilled and motivated manpower to stay
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competitive. A strong Corporate Identity can help in attracting good talent from the
market.
Public expectations for corporate social responsiveness: In addition to financial
performance, social performance of organisation is also given high level of
importance by consumers and other stakeholders. Therefore, companies are making
effort to build and project a socially and environmentally responsible image.
Blurring of boundaries between organisations and between stakeholders: The
boundary between the internal and external aspects of organisations is breaking
down internal and external aspects of organisations. For many companies this is
because of the "relationship between the suppliers, consultants, and franchise
partners as well as joint-venture partners". A strong corporate identity helps in
building a good corporate reputation in such scenario.
Benefits of Corporate Identity: As we discussed corporate identity has high
significance in this changing business environment. A strong corporate identity gives
several benefits to the organization. Some the benefits of having strategic corporate
identity management are:
Reflects personality of the Company: Strong Corporate Identity management helps
in creating and communicating a consistent and strong visual identity of the
organization. It conveys the organisation's business philosophy, ideals, culture and
personality, which plays important role in winning confidence of various
stakeholders. It also projects the company professionally.
Differentiation and Competitive Advantage: Corporate Identity differentiates
organisations from the competition and distinguishes it in the market. It also helps in
drawing high visibility in the market. This in turn helps in positively influencing the
customer and hence the sales, resulting in higher turnover for the company.
Corporate Reputation: A strong corporate identity creates a favourable corporate
image among various internal and external stakeholder groups. This image, in the
long run, results in building a favourable corporate reputation, "which leads to key
stakeholders having a favourable disposition towards the organization" (Vella and
Melewar, 2008. p. 9). It also adds credibility to the organisations.
Employee Motivation: Good Corporate Identity also contributes towards
motivation of employees. It also helps the organisations to obtain support from them.
"Corporate identity allows employees to adapt to the prevailing organizational
culture with less difficulty and acts as an integrative force in the case of mergers or
acquisition. Management’s ability to recruit employees with the necessary skills is
indirectly improved through corporate identity." (Vella and Melewar, 2008. p. 9).
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1.5.4 Elements of Corporate Identity
A number of factors contribute towards corporate identity. These includes the culture
of the organisation, its vision, mission, philosophy, history, position in the market,
organisation style, ethics, management and professional team, expertise etc. Various
elements of corporate identity has been categorised into seven broad groups by
Melewar & Karaosmanoglu (2006). These are Corporate Communication, Corporate
Design, Corporate Culture, Behaviour, Corporate Structure, Industry Identity and
Corporate Strategy. Let's discuss each of these dimensions:
Corporate Communication: As corporate communication deals with all the
communication activities of the organisation, it plays significant role in shaping the
perception about the company among its stakeholders. If the corporate
communication is "intentionally instigated by the management with the aim of
improving stakeholder relationships" then it is called controlled corporate
communication. When the communication takes place unintentionally it is
uncontrolled communication. Controlled corporate communication contributes
significantly towards developing the desired corporate identity. Uncontrolled
Communication is also equally important to corporate identity as it also disseminates
various signals and messages about the organisation's culture, behaviours and
personality. (Melewar & Karaosmanoglu, 2006).
Corporate Design: Corporate Design is concerned with the visual aspects of the
corporate identity. According to Melewar & Karaosmanoglu (2006), "corporate
design is a term used to describe the vast number of visual cues that are associated
with a specific organisation. Corporate visual identity system (CVIS) is composed of
five main elements: the organisation‟s name, slogan, logotype/symbol, colour and
typography" (p. 852). It can also be communicated through the product or services of
the company, its vehicle, location, building or interior of the office. Corporate
design constitutes an important component of corporate identity. Besides these five
main elements of CVIS, the product design, websites, communication materials such
as brochure, annual report etc, company‟s building architecture, interior design of
offices, vehicle and uniforms of employees etc. send various messages about the
organisation and contributes to develop the corporate identity.
Corporate Culture: Corporate Identity as defined by Barley (1983), as cited by
Melewar (2003), is "a complex set of values, beliefs, assumptions and symbols that
define the way in which a firm conducts its business" (p. 203). Core values,
behaviour and beliefs of an organisation are reflected in the corporate culture of the
organisation (Melewar, Karaosmanoglu and Paterson, 2005). According to Melewar
& Karaosmanoglu (2006), important elements of corporate culture are philosophy,
mission, values, principles, guidelines, history, national culture, the founder of the
company and subculture. All these elements contribute in shaping the corporate
culture of an organisation, which in turn has a significant role in creation and
management of corporate identity.
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Behaviour: Behaviour is one of the important aspects of Corporate Identity. It
refers to the way of action by a company. According to __ behaviour of a company
consists of three elements: Corporate Behaviour, Employee Behaviour and
Management Behaviour. According to Melewar (2003), "the sum total of the
corporate actions, which results from the corporate attitudes that are planned in line
with the company culture or that occur spontaneously, is called corporate behaviour"
(p. 205). Whereas, "employee behaviour is associated with the process by which
employees relate to the organisation" (Melewar, Karaosmanoglu and Paterson, 2005.
P. 65). Management behaviour consists of the actions and communication by the
senior management of the organisation. Management behaviour has significance
effect on the employee behaviour. According to Melewar (2003), corporate
behaviour "affects the perceptions of a company’s stakeholders as strongly as visual
identity and even more strongly at times of crises" (p. 206). Similarly, employee
behaviour also has significant influence over the stakeholders and considered as
reflection of corporate identity. On the other hand, since senior management plays an
important role in driving the corporate identity, the management behaviour affects
identity of the organisation.
Corporate Structure: According to Melewar (2003), corporate structure is
considered to be an important component of corporate identity and it consists of
brand structure and organisational structure. Corporate branding refers to creation
differentiation and preference of the company. A strong brand is very important in
establishing identity of an organisation and earning competitive advantage in the
market.
On the other hand, "the organisational structure is associated with the
organisational hierarchy, lines of communication and reporting responsibilities"
(Melewar & Karaosmanoglu 2006. p. 859). Degree of centralisation and
decentralisation - both geographically and across products – is highly significant.
When a company adopts a high degree of centralised structure, it is unlikely to allow
autonomy to its subsidiary entities. Thus it will create monolithic identity. Whereas a
company with decentralised structure would prefer to let its subsidiaries to develop
their own individual identities.
Industry Identity: Industry identity refers to the "underlying economic and
technical characteristics of an industry, such as industry size, growth patterns, rates
of change, competitiveness and use of technology" (Melewar, 2003. p. 207). The
identity of the industry, in which a company operates, has significant effects on the
company's corporate identity. According to (Melewar & Karaosmanoglu 2006),
"Companies operating in an industry with a clear and strong identity may adopt very
similar strategies in areas of corporate identity management, and in consequence
they commonly develop similar identities" (p. 860).
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Corporate Strategy: According to Melewar & Karaosmanoglu (2006), "Corporate
strategy is the blueprint of the firm‟s fundamental objectives and strategies, for
competing in their given market" (p. 861). Since corporate strategy plays a
significant role in determining the product or services by the company, profit level,
perception of the stakeholders, consumer's feeling etc., it has a significant influence
over the corporate identity.
1.5.5 Managing Corporate Identity:
Corporate Identity Management is a complex process and need to take care of all the
elements as we discussed. Though senior management plays a significant role in
corporate identity management, it is equally important to involve middle level
management and other employees. Other stakeholders such as target customers,
shareholders, supplies, competitors can also be involved directly or indirectly to
make the process more effective.
According to Podnar (2015), corporate identity management process consists of five
steps
1. Conducting a value analysis with the key question: In what way does the company
create value on the market? Value analysis uses methods such as interviews with
strategically important people inside and outside the organisation, content
analysis of documents and organisational history, market research etc.
2. Formulating positioning strategy, which means articulation of the unique
capabilities of the company and its communication with employees and other
internal external audiences.
3. developing a corporate identification system used to translate corporate identity
into verbal designer language which is manifested through graphic images,
corporate communication, and the processing and execution of services
4. Devising an audience management programme that will strengthen personal
relationships with internal and external stakeholders to achieve strategic goals
through them
5. Implementing and monitoring the identity management programme to achieve as
much as possible in the shortest amount of time and to measure the effects in real
time.(p. 23)
1.6 SUMMARY
Lobbying, sponsorship and corporate identity are three of the important tools of
corporate communication that can be advantageous for any organisation, if managed
strategically. Lobbying is basically a communication activity in which Lobbyists is
involved in sharing of different type information with the public authorities.
Lobbyists package the information into effective messages and deliver the same
through most suitable means of communication. Lobbying primarily deals with the
legislatures, bureaucrats, public institutions and related organisations, which
constitute one of major external - more specifically government - stakeholder group
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for an organisation. Lobbyists also make effort to establish and maintain a
favourable relationship with these stakeholder groups and the organisation to achieve
the desired objective.
Sponsorship, on the other hand, is one of the very effective corporate communication
tools that provide opportunity for good publicity and building corporate reputation. It
also helps in improving community relations as association with and support to a
local cause or event places the organisation in a positive manner. Various
companies are using sponsorship opportunities to improve their corporate or brand
image, credibility and goodwill. Not only the large business organisations, smaller
organisations are also now sponsoring various activities which are attractive for their
target market or audience.
Though sponsorship has several benefits for an organisation, selecting the right
event, organisation, programme or individual for sponsorship is highly important. A
sponsor, before committing any kind sponsorship needs to evaluate objective, target
audience and success prospect etc. of event or programme. Assessing the past record
and reputation of the organisation or individual who is organising the programme or
event is also important.
From just graphic design, Corporate Identity has emerged as a powerful tool for
organisations to communicate their values and personalities. Corporate Identity is
presentation of organisation's true characteristics that gives makes it unique in the
market Olins (1989) as cited by Dolphin (1999) there are three approaches to
Corporate Identity. These are Monolithic, Endorsed and Branded. Various factors in
the changing the business dynamics have necessitated the need for strategic
management of corporate identity. As we discussed corporate identity has high
significance in this changing business environment. A strong corporate identity gives
several benefits to the organization. Various elements of corporate identity include
Corporate Design, Corporate Culture, Behaviour, Corporate Structure, Industry
Identity and Corporate Strategy.
1.7CHECK YOUR PROGRESS
1. Explain why Lobbying is an important Corporate Communication Tool.
2. What are the principles of responsible lobbying?
3. Describe the advantages of sponsorship.
4. Describe the important considerations to be made while selecting a sponsorship
proposal.
5. Define Corporate Identity.
6. What are the benefits of having a good corporate identity?
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UNIT 2: DEFINING STRATEGY AND ITS ROLE,
CAMPAIGN PLANNING
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Summary
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2.1 LEARNING OBJECTIVES
In the previous unit, we discussed some of the tools of corporate communication. In
the present unit, we will also discuss some more such tools. The present unit focuses
on planning aspect of corporate communication. By end of this unit learners would
have a understanding about:
 Corporate Communication Strategies and how to develop the same
 Planning of corporate communication campaigns
2.2 INTRODUCTION
Corporate Communication is an integrated and continuous function in an
organisation. In the era of diversified information landscape in the world,
organisations regularly communicate with their respective stakeholders, directly or
indirectly. However, for effective communication, organisations are required to plan
their communication activities in advance. A well planned corporate communication
programme helps organisations to maximize use of its communication resources,
boost reputation and maintain corporate identity, enhance employee motivation and
contribute towards achievement of organisation's goals. In fact, success of corporate
communication is largely dependent on planning.
Corporate Communication strategy is a step towards effective management of
communication activities of an organisation. It reflects the perspective of the
organisation's management. It also guides the corporate communication manager, in
particular, and the employees of the organization, in general to efficiently implement
organisational communication programmes. Corporate communication strategy
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provides a framework for regulating communication by the organization with the
stakeholders.
2.3 STRATEGY
The term 'strategy' comes from the Greek word strategia, meaning generalship. It is
about deploying troops in the war field before the actual war. The concept of
strategy was introduced in corporate world because of the similarity between warfare
and market competition. According to Jofre (2011),
The old expression "Business means war" reflects the competitive mood and
the strategic nature of the business world. In that world, rivals compete for
the ultimate dominance in a battleground (market) in which each contender
has access to and makes use of common resources (e.g. available human and
technological resources). A basic strategic advantage to win and prevail over
rivals in the market comes from the differentiated used of such resources.
Such advantage regards the particular way a firm employs its resources, or in
other words, it regards the firm‘s capabilities to compete. As in war,
competition in business pushes the rivals to the limits of their capability. This
effort, successful or not, will inevitably change the trajectory (of behaviour
and performance) of the firms over time. (p. 3).
This concept of strategy is also adopted by corporate organisation with some
adaptations. The resources available with the organisation are its troops whereas the
market is the war field. The war is about competing in the market or coping with
changing market scenario.
2.3.1 Defining Strategy
Though strategy is a buzzword in corporate world and every organisation uses it,
intentionally or unintentionally, there is no universally accepted definition of the
term. Alfred Chandler (1962) defines strategy as "the determination of the basic,
long-term goals and objectives of an enterprise, and the adoption of courses of
action and the allocation of resources necessary for those goals" (p.13).
This definition has three actionable components. The first one is 'determination of
the basic, long-term goals and objectives'. This means the strategy must lay down
what it wants to achieve. The second one is 'adoption of courses of action', which
refers to deciding the set of activities to achieve the objectives. Third major
component is 'allocation of resources'. This refers to deciding the required resources
– manpower, skill, technology, finance etc. – as well as deploying the resources to
achieve the objectives. In a similar view, Kenneth Andrews (1971) defines strategy
as "The pattern of objectives, purposes or goals and major policies and plans for
achieving these goals, stated in such way as to define what businesses the company
is in or is to be in and the kind of company it is or is to be" (p. 28). According
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Michael Porter strategy is "a combination of the ends (goals) for which the firm is
striving and the means (policies) by which it is seeking to get there" (p. xxiv).
However, considering different use of the term strategy Mintzberg (1987) puts
forward five definitions of strategy: plan; ploy; pattern; position; and perspective.
 Strategy as a Plan: This is the most obvious interpretation of the term
Strategy. Strategy as a plan refers to 'some sort of consciously intended course
of action, a guideline or a set of guidelines to deal with a situation' (p. 11).
With this definition strategies have two important characteristics. "They are
made in advance of the actions to which they apply, and they are developed
consciously and purposefully" (p.11).
 Strategy as Ploy: Strategy as a Plan can also be a ploy too. Strategy as a ploy
refers to a 'manoeuvre' with a target to outwit the competition or opponents.
 Strategy as a Pattern: By this definition strategy is not intended like a Plan or
Ploy, rather it emerges from repetitive behaviours of the organisation over time.
Strategy is a pattern refers to a pattern in action by the organisation over a
period of time.
 Strategy as a Position: By this definition of strategy is "a means of locating an
organisation" in an environment. "By this definition strategy becomes the
mediating force between organisation and environment that is between internal
and external context" (p. 15).
 Strategy as a Perspective: Strategy also represents perspective of
organisations such as its vision or direction. "Strategy is a perspective - its
content consisting not just of a chosen position, but of an ingrained way of
perceiving the world" (p. 16). With this definition strategy has same meaning
for the organisation as personality for the individual. It is a concept and is
shared by different members of the organisation. "In effect, when we talk of
strategy in this context, we are entering the realm of the collective mind individuals united by common thinking and / or behaviour" (p, 17).
Harvard Business Review (2009) views strategy as a combination of art and science.
It argues that Strategy"is an art in that strategy requires creative thought, an ability
to identify alternative future states and strong communication skills to inspire and
engage those who will implement strategy. It is a science in that it requires
managers to collect and analyse information that they can then turn into action"
(p.4).
Whitehead (2011) define strategy as "both the goal of an organisation and the
pathway it follows to achieve that goal" (p.4).
There are also several other definitions of 'strategy' by different scholars and
practitioners. From the definitions we can simply put strategy as an outline of actions
to achieve desired goals with best utilisation of available resources under certain
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conditions and assumptions. It involves making decisions after serious thinking
evaluation of various alternatives. "All intended strategies are decisions, but not all
decisions create strategies. A strategic decision is one that is difficult, hard to
reverse, and involves the commitment of significant resources" (Whitehead, 2011. p.
5).
Strategy is future oriented and helps in guiding the organisation's and actions. It
gives answer to the how the organisation will be run, how it will compete in the
market, and what market or segment to focus, what are the resources required and
who would be performing different tasks etc.
2.3.2 Importance, Role and Functions of Strategy
"In business, strategy is king. Leadership and hard work are all very well and luck is
mighty useful, but it is strategy that makes or breaks a firm", as per the Economist
(2012), a leading publication on business and economy. Developing and
implementing explicit and focused strategies is highly important for success of an
organisation. Without a definitive strategy may result in failure.
Thomson et al (2016) highlights two important reasons why crafting and executing
strategy is important for a business organisation. "First, a clear and reasoned strategy
is management‟s prescription for doing business, its road map to competitive
advantage, its game plan for pleasing customers, and its formula for improving
performance" (Thomson et al, 2016, p. 12). Secondly, without efficient execution,
the best of strategies can fail. Therefore, it is important that the process of
development and implementation of strategy should go hand in hand for long term
success of the organisation.
Without proper strategy, organisations with very successful product or service may
become directionless and find difficulties to survive due to change in business
environment or threats from the competition. As Harvard Business Review (2009)
argues "A sound strategy, skilfully carried out, fosters significant shifts in the way a
company does business and these shifts distinguish a company from its competitors.
By guiding a company's ongoing evolution, strategy provides the necessary
information and direction for managers to define their work and help their
organisation remain competitive." (p. 5)
Importance of Strategy: There are several reasons for which Strategy holds
importance for organisations. Some of them are:
 Promotes understanding about the organisation and the industry: Strategy
helps organisations to having clear understanding about their own entity and the
business environment or industry in which it operates. It supports the management
and the employees to have clarity about the core abilities of the organisation, its
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weakness and risks. It helps the organisation to focus on best utilisation of its
available resources.
 Prepares the organisations to meet the future challenges: A well-crafted
strategy helps organisations to respond to the changing business environment. As
the business circumstances are changing continuously, strategy foresees the long
term changes in the environment and develops plans of action to meet the
challenges for maximising growth. It also prepares the organisation to identify
future opportunities and threats.
 Gives direction and vision to the organisation: A good strategy outlines what
the organisation desires to accomplish and how it want to operate. It guides the
decision making, structure of the organisation and charts the organisation's course.
It provides a common purpose and goal to the organisation. It also helps in
prioritising and aligning actions as well as allocation of resources.
 Helps to achieve competitive advantage: In business, a competitive advantage is
the attribute that allows an organization to outperform its competitors. Strategy
helps organisations to achieve competitive advantages. A clear strategy defines the
plan of action and road map for the organisations to serve its customers or
stakeholders differently from the competition and thus creating a competitive
advantage for the organisation.
Highlighting the importance of strategy Thompson et al argue that "a well-crafted,
well-executed, constantly evolving strategy can explain why an elite set of companies
somehow manages to rise to the top and stay there, year after year, pleasing their
customers, shareholders, and other stakeholders alike in the process" (p. 1).
Grant & Jordan (2015) identify three important role of Strategy in Organisations.
These are:
 Strategy as a decision Support: Strategy not only makes an organisation's
decisions coherent, but also supports in improving decision making. It makes
decision making simpler by constraining the range of decision alternatives,
integrating the knowledge of different individuals and facilitating use of
analytical tools.
 Strategy as a coordinating device: Strategy promotes coordination of the
actions of various members of the organisation by communicating the
organisation's identity, goal and position to all members, developing consensus
by providing forum for exchange of views and monitoring the implementation
of the strategy.
 Strategy as Target: Strategy is futuristic. It helps in establishing the direction
of the organisation's development in future as well as inspiring and motivating
the organisation's members by setting aspirations.
 Strategy as animation and orientation: Strategy animates as well as orients
the members of an organisation. This helps in mobilising and encouraging them
as well as making them work in a coordinated way.
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Kraaijenbrink (2019, Jan 08) highlights six core functions of Strategy 'in today's
volatile, uncertain, complex and ambiguous world'. These are:
1. Strategy helps preparing an organization for the future: Strategy is forward
looking and helps organisations to focus on issues beyond day to day and short
term activities.
2. Strategy helps distinguishing an organization from others: Strategy identifies the
unique assets, competencies and features of an organisation. It helps the
organisations to focus and make best use of these to differentiate it from the
competition.
3. Strategy provides an organization with some stability: Strategy provides
guidance and framework for operation of an organisation. This helps in giving
stability.
4. Strategy serves as a common frame of reference: Strategy provides a common
point of reference to the members of the organisation. It helps people in and
around the organization to know what assumptions, ideas or plans they are
deviating or not.
5. Strategy supports internal and external alignment: By providing an integrative
overview of the most important internal and external factors to be taken into
account by an organization, strategy helps to align both internally and with its
external environment.
6. Strategy guides organizational action: Strategy gives direction to the
organisation's action, thus helping the organisations to avert 'uncoordinated,
fragmented and possibly counterproductive actions'.
2.4 CORPORATE COMMUNICATION STRATEGY
From tactical function, corporate communication has been shifted to a strategic
function due to the changing environment. Dolphin & Fan (2000) define it as "the
strategic management process by which an organisation communicates with its
various audiences to the mutual benefits of both and to its improved competitive
advantage". According to Arthur W. Page Society (2017), "Communications is
officially a central part of the corporate strategy" (p. 5) and chief communication
officers are considered as a key leader in creating and executing overall corporate
strategy of Companies.
The strategic nature of corporate communication is derived from the Integrative,
managerial and environmental scanning role it plays as well as its characteristics as a
long term activity. Fernandez (2004), citing mediaonline.com, defines corporate
communication as "a long-term strategic initiative taken by a corporate organization
to communicate the core brand and its core messages to a spectrum of audiences in a
globalized market environment".
Development of strategy is one of the core activities in corporate communication
function. It sets the communication goals, defines the course of action to achieve
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these goals and predicts possible impact of various communication initiatives. It also
outlines the plan for allocation and utilization of corporate communication resources
to achieve the objectives. It" is concerned with communicating the overall purpose
and scope of the value of the different parts of the corporation" (Stanton, 2017, p.7).
2.4.1 Defining corporate communication Strategy
Corporate Communication strategy outlines the communication goals of an
organisations and maps out various courses of action to achieve these goals. It
provides a framework that guides the organisation on how, what, when and to whom
to communicate for building and enhancing corporate reputation and mutual
understanding. According to Styne (2000) Corporate Communication strategy
provides "the focus and direction for an organisation's communication with its
stakeholders - determining what should be communicated to assist in achieving
organisational goals" (p.11). It is the thinking about doing the right things rather than
doing things right (Steyn, 2000).
A well designed corporate communication strategy describes not only the
communication goal of the organisation but also explains the objectives and possible
result of corporate communication actions. It enables the organisation to disseminate
right message to the right stakeholders through right medium and at appropriate
time. It helps communication activities of the organization integrated and regulated.
It connects with the overall corporate strategy and sets priorities of communication
goals and actions.
2.4.2 Importance of Corporate Communication Strategy
Corporate Communication strategy supports organisations to proactively manage
their stakeholders with a focus on developing mutually beneficial relationship and
cooperation. It serves as a link between the overall corporate strategy and corporate
communication function, maximizing the function's contribution to the success of
the organization (Steyn, 2000). Corporate communication strategy is important
because, it helps in
- linking corporate communication function with overall corporate strategy
- outlining the organisation's approach to communication and its goal
- explaining guidelines to communicate in a standardized way
- utilization of communication resources for achieving the goal of the organization
in most efficient manner
- achieving corporate goals through development of mutual understanding and
relationship between the organisation and its stakeholders
- defining the communication system and devises the plan to improve the same, if
required
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- identifying strength and weaknesses of existing communication system, team,
resources etc. and guides to minimize the weaknesses and best use the strengths
- Laying out road map to earn competitive advantage in the market by building
unique brand identity and reputation.
Corporate communication strategy makes the organisation ready to manage any kind
of public relations and communication issues. It is very helpful at the time of crisis.
In addition to these, it helps to enhance corporate communication function's profile
within the organisation.
2.5 DEVELOPING A CORPORATE COMMUNICATION STRATEGY
Corporate communication strategy is organically linked with the overall corporate
strategy and is developed as per the vision, mission, culture, objective and
assessment of external environment of the organisation. It includes strategic decision
about identification, management and prioritization of stakeholders for
communication activities. Formulating a corporate communication strategy involves
identification of important issues associated the organisations, visualisation of
possible impact of these issues on stakeholders as well as decision about
communication message and medium to solve the issue or get benefit from the
opportunity (Styne, 1999, p.25). It also involves identifying the gap between the
existing and expected corporate reputation and choosing appropriate action to
minimize the gap or reinforce the corporate reputation.
While developing the corporate communication strategy, senior communication
professionals and the top management of the organisation work in close
coordination. the communication professionals consults the top management to
understand the overall corporate strategy and expected outcome of corporate
communication function. Accordingly, they develop various communication ideas
and options and present it to the senior management. Then both senior
communication professionals and the top management finalise the corporate
communication strategy together. In some cases, the communication team of the
organisation makes a draft corporate communication strategy and presents it to the
senior management. Then after input from the later, the communication team
formulates the final strategy on how the organisation would communicate. Argenti
(2013) remarks that an effective corporate communication strategy encourages an
organisation to "send messages that are clear and understandable, true and,
communication with passion, strategically repetitive and repeated, and consistent
across constituencies" (p. 29).
Developing corporate communication strategy requires clear understanding about the
internal as well as external environment of the organisation. Internal environment
includes profile of the organisation, its vision, values, culture, policies, philosophy
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etc., whereas external environment covers stakeholders of the organisation, social,
political, regulatory and other factors that affects the organisations.
Steps in Corporate Communication Strategy Formulation
Steyn (2000) suggests 10 steps in formulation of an effective corporate
communication strategy. Let's discuss each of these steps.
Step 1: Analysis of internal environment
The strategy maker need to be familiar with the organisation's profile, product or
services, market position, financial status, structure and teams, its strength and
weaknesses, corporate goal and strategies etc. Understanding about the
organisation's vision, mission, culture, values, existing policies etc. is also required.
Step 2: Identification of strategic stakeholders and publics
Stakeholders play an important role in communication function of an organisation.
There are different stakeholders groups and the relationship between the stakeholder
and the organisation also differs. Corporate communication has an important role in
managing this relationship. The next important step in corporate communication
strategy development is to understand stakeholders and external environment. It
involves using research methods and
other tools to identify stakeholders and
publics, preparing of Stakeholder Map,
understanding what are the consequence
of organisation's activities on various
stakeholders as well as being aware of
stakeholders'
familiarity
with,
perception about and attitude towards
the organisation
Step 3: Recognition and Prioritisation
of important strategic issues
Strategic issues can be both internal and
external. It can also be categorised as
organisational issues such as merger and
budget cut and communication issues
such as negative publicity in media, lack
of
communication
about
the
organisation policies or failure in
delivery of message etc. While making
corporate communication strategy, it is important to find out and describe important
strategic issues with differentiation as organisational issue or communication issue.
This guides the next steps of strategy making
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Step 4: Understanding implication of strategic issues
Once the issues are identified and described, the next step is to determine what
would be the effects of these issues on stakeholders, impact of the organisation's
strategy as well as behaviour of the senior management also considered in this step.
Step 5: Formulation of Corporate Communication Strategy
After understanding the organisation's internal and external environment and issues
the Corporate Communication Strategy is made. It is designed basically to support
the organisation to achieve its overall business objectives. The strategy needs to
clearly identify what should be communicated to the stakeholders (a) "to solve the
problems created by the implications of a strategic issue and (b) "to capitalise on the
opportunities presented by the implications of a strategic issue" (Steyn, 2000, p. 22).
Step 6: Setting goals of communication
Communication goal refers to where the organization wants to reach by means of
communication. After identification of what to be communicated, communication
goals are prepared to specify what the organization desires to achieve through its
communication activities while addressing the issues and its implications identified.
These goals then help to develop corporate communication plans. "This means that
for each communication goal set during the strategy phase, two or more objectives
should be developed for it in the communication plan" (Steyn, 2000, p. 23).
Step 7: Development of communication policy
Corporate communication policy is "the official rules, principle and rationales that
organisations issue to guide all forms of communication within a system" (Elving,
2016, p. 183). It is the control mechanism that governs the internal and external
communication of the organization. Corporate communication policy is an
important component of corporate communication strategy and is based on the
organisation's goal, culture, values and strategies. Styne (2000) suggest that
corporate communication policy need to include functional communication areas,
specified communication programmes, functional relationships between corporate
communication and other functions, structure, goal and objectives of corporate
communication as well as do's and don'ts.
Step 8: Submission of draft corporate communication strategy to management
Support of the top management of the organisation is important success of a
corporate communication strategy. Therefore, the corporate communication strategy
once prepared need to be shared with the senior management of the organisation,
which may include the CEO or Head. They should be briefed about the rationale
behind the strategy, findings about organisational issues and proposed solutions as
well as how communication would benefit the organisation's overall corporate
strategy etc.
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Step 9: Media Analysis
The next step is to identify different media appropriate for the organisation and its
stakeholders. Media for corporate communication can include interpersonal
communication media such as face to face communication, group communication
media such as meetings or mass communication media such as newspaper and
television.
Step 10: Development of strategic communication plan
The strategic communication plan, according to Steyn (2000) is "the framework
within which communication programmes, communication campaigns and
communication plans are developed" (p. 26). The plan specifies implementation of
the corporate communication strategy. Communication programmes consists of
continuous communication with strategic stakeholders and is concerned with
management of relationship between the stakeholders and the organisation. Steyn
(2000) mentions that "the corporate communication campaign is an organised and
integrated effort to manage certain well-focused corporate communication activities,
together with their supporting communication, to achieve a more controlled result"
(p. 27). A campaign can be a one-time effort to achieve a particular goal or can be
cyclic effort, each building on the previous ones. Communication plans are
developed to achieve specific communication goals (Steyn, 2000).
The steps given here provide only the guidelines to develop a corporate
communication strategy. Following each of the steps in a sequential manner may not
be required all time. The corporate communication managers need to use these
guiding steps as per the situational demand and need of the organisation.
2.6 CORPORATE COMMUNICATION CAMPAIGN
After finalising the corporate communication strategy, it is converted into
programmes and campaigns as part of the implementation process. According to
Cornelissen (2008), communication Programme is a series of communication
activities addressing on going corporate communication needs and issues. These are
mostly long term activities, having no pre-set endpoint. On the other hand, a
communication campaign consists of a set of planned efforts to address a specific
issue or achieve a specific target within a fixed timeline. "A communication program
is thus a broader concept than the idea of a communication campaign" (p. 110).
2.6.1 Defining Communication Campaign
Stein (1970) defines campaign as "any systematic course of aggressive activities for
some special purpose" (as cited by Solomon & Cardillo 1985, p. 60). With a
communication perspective, Roger (1973) defines campaign as "a pre-planned set of
communication activities designed by change agents to achieve certain changes in
receiver behaviour in a specified time period" (as cited by Solomon and Cardillo
1985, p. 60). "A communication campaign is designed to achieve a specific
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objective. Such a campaign involves working in a planned and proactive manner
towards a specific goal" (Beger, 2018, p. 118).
There are many other definitions of 'communication campaign'. However, most of
the definitions stress on the sequence of coordinated efforts, fixed purpose, and time
bound nature of campaign in corporate communication context. With reference to
various definitions, we can say that a communication campaign is a target oriented
series of coordinated communication efforts designed to reach mostly a wider
audience with several informational and persuasive messages around certain issue or
topic to achieve predetermined goals or objectives. It involves use of multiple
corporate communication tools and media / channels to inform and persuade people
for accepting a product or service, organisation, idea or ideology, personality,
programme or policy or behavioural changes etc.
Campaigns are grouped according to their purpose and three most common groups
are political campaigns, marketing or advertising campaigns and public
communication campaigns. Political campaigns focus on building support a
particular candidate in elections or political issue. Marketing Campaigns encourage
people to buy a specific products or services. Public communication campaigns are
directed at achieving social changes (Solomon and Cardillo 1985).
2.6.2 Characteristics of Communication Campaign
Rogers and Storey (1987) put forward four important characteristics of a
Communication Campaign. These are:
a) A campaign is purposive: A Communication campaign is designed to achieve
specific outcomes or effects. It ultimately aims to influence individuals.
b) A campaign is aimed at large audience: Campaign seeks to influence a sizably
large number of people. "The campaign audience is determined to a certain
extent by campaign goals, but thee usually include influencing enough people to
make an organised expenditure of resource worthwhile" (p. 820). The size of
target audience can range from few hundred to population of a large country.
c) A campaign has more or less specifically defined time limit: Most of the
communication campaign are conducted within a specified time period, ranging
from few days to several months.
d) A campaign involved and organised set of communication activities:
Campaigns involves organised activities in message production and distribution
of message. Coordination of communication activities of a campaign is
important for its success.
2.6.3How to Develop a Communication Campaign
Irrespective of its types and objective, a communication campaign requires good
planning for its success. A well-researched and well planned campaign is most
effective in achieving its desired objectives. While developing a corporate
communication campaign in a step by step planning process is always important.
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Let's discuss the various steps involved in designing a corporate communication
campaign.
Situation Analysis: A corporate communication campaigns is created in various
situations. It can be created to address a problem or negative situation or crisis. In
some other situations a campaign is launched to establish corporate identity or
reinforce corporate reputation and promote acceptance of a product, service, concept
or behavioural change. The first step in developing a corporate communication
campaign is to analyse and understand the situation or problem to explain why the
campaign is required. In this step the communication planners refer to the overall
strategy and identify the gap between where the organisation is now and where it
wants to reach. Situation analysis involves researching the present condition,
analysing the different factors for the situation, previous efforts (if any) taken to
address the issue, strengths and weaknesses of the organisation, opportunities and
threats associated with the situation etc. This steps figures out what will be the
campaign about.
Setting the Objectives: A corporate communication campaign always seeks to
achieve a specified objective. The next step is to decide what the campaign wants to
achieve. The objectives describe the desired outcome of the campaign. It provides
direction to the communication campaign. The outcome can be related to changes in
knowledge, attitude or behaviour. The objective is developed from the situation
analysis and background research conducted in the previous phase. It is aligned with
overall corporate objective and corporate communication strategy of the
organisation. S.M.A.R.T way is followed to define objectives. As per these criteria,
the objective should be:
 Specific. Use specific rather than generalized language: Clearly state the issue,
the target group, the time and place of the program.
 Measurable. Be clear in the objective about what will be changed and by how
much. Setting this clearly at the start makes it easier to evaluate
 Achievable. Be realistic about what the program can achieve in terms of the
scale/scope of what is being done, the time and resources available
 Relevant. Sometimes called “reasonable” or “realistic.” Objectives should
reasonably relate to, and be relevant to, the goal and your program activities.
Remember objectives represent the building blocks toward meeting goals
 Time bound. Be clear in the objectives about the timeframe in which the
program/activities, as well as expected changes, will take place.
Audience Analysis: Once Objectives of the campaign are laid out clearly, the next
step is to define and describe the target audience. In reality, the campaign objectives
help in determining the audience to a large extent. In this step the campaign planners
decides who are the people they want to reach. This is because organisations have
multiple stakeholders such as customers, shareholders, employees, mass media,
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suppliers, government and financial agencies. The campaign planners identify the
most important stakeholders to achieve the desired objective. The target audience,
once identified, needs to be segmented into different groups for more effective
outcome. The audience segmentation can be done as depending upon different
characteristics of the audience as done in case of consumer market segmentation.
There are different bases of audience segmentation. These are
• Geographic: Target Audience can be divided in terms of geographic criteria such
as national, regional, city wise, neighbourhood etc.
• Demographic: Target audience is segmented as per the demographic criteria such
as gender, ethnicity, language, family size, education, occupation, income level,
etc.
• Psychographic: Target audience is divided on the basis of psychological
attributes such as lifestyle, beliefs, values, personality and attitude
• Behavioural: Target audience is divided accordingly their attitude towards,
knowledge about, experience of, or response to an organisation, or service or
product.
Analysis of the primary and secondary audience of the campaign is also important.
Primary audience consists of audience segment that will be receiving the information
directly or may be directly affected by the campaign. They are the primary user of
the communication campaign. However, there can be secondary audience which
consists of audience segment that may receive the information indirectly or could be
impacted by the campaign.
Developing the Message: Message is the key element of a communication
campaign. A successful communication campaign is based on clear messages that
illustrates the problem, proposed solution and encourages the target audience to take
desired action. After identifying the objectives and audiences the next important step
in a corporate communication campaign is to develop the message or decide what
information needs to be shared with the target audience to achieve the desired
objectives. A Communication campaign needs to create interesting message for its
success. While crafting a message for communication, it is important to develop the
content keeping the audience in mind. The campaign planers need to decide what
emotion of the audience they want to appeal to, the language of the message, and
how it would be packed or designed. Use of catchy slogans along with visual stimuli
such as images, typographic setting, creative design etc. is also decided in this step.
An effective message in a communication campaign needs to be clear, concise and
credible. It should draw attention of the target audience and should be easy to
comprehend and remember. Message can be crafted differently for each target
audience or can be same for all, depending upon the situation. The messages should
be consistent across the channels and needs to be linked with the objective and the
target audience.
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Determining the Strategy and Tactics: After identifying the issue, objectives,
target audience and the message, the next step is to decide how to achieve the
campaign objectives. Strategy provides the broad guidelines on this how aspects of
the campaign. It provides a road map and direction to the campaign. On the other
hand tactics refers to the activities or technique used to implement a campaign
strategy. Tactics follow strategy and describes the activities to execute a strategy for
accomplishing the set objectives of the campaign. strategy provides the broad areas
of intervention, whereas tactics describe the specific activities to support the
strategy under the campaign. For example, if media relations is the strategy then the
tactics can be sending press releases, organising press meets, writing letter to editor
etc. In this step, the campaign planners decide the strategy of the campaign and list
out the tactics to be used for the strategies. The strategy and tactics need to be
developed as per the objectives and audience of the campaign.
Selecting of media and media mix: Media is the carrier of message to the target
audience. The next step is to identify the right channels of communication to reach
out the target audience. The practitioner explores different media options available
and their strength and weakness in carrying the desired message. The channel can be
mass media, interpersonal communication channels, social media platforms, folk
media etc. In a campaign, ,media selection is done on the basis of the media's reach,
coverage of the target group, how the media support the message style and format,
interactivity of the media as well as the cost efficiency. Identification of the target
audience and nature of message helps in selecting the channel of communication.
For maximising the impact, communication campaigns use multiple media.
Therefore it is important to specify how different media would be used, when each
of the media would be used and how one media can supplement the other to make
the campaign a success. The media selection should also be aligned with the strategy
and tactics of the communication campaign.
Timeline: A communication campaign by its characteristics has a fixed time frame.
In this step the communication planers makes a time table or calendar of events
describing the schedule of various activities of the campaign. The timeline helps in
deciding when to take up what activities, sequence of activities, setting deadlines for
completion as well as monitoring of various activities in a campaign. Timeline can
be stretch from few days to months depending upon the objective and strategy of the
campaign. The campaign planners need to make a detailed timeline of the campaign
describe what to be done, when, by whom, where and with whom. Gantt charts and
spreadsheet programmes like Microsoft excel can be used to prepare the timeline for
a communication campaign.
Defining the Budget: A communication campaign involves expenditure for various
activities. There are different costs under a communication campaign as per its
strategy and tactics. In this step, the communication planner determines how much
cost to be made for different activities like production of communication material,
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designing cost, printing of materials, media buying, public relations expenses,
meeting expenses, hiring of consultants/agencies etc. The campaign planners need to
allocate the budget efficiently and justify the allocation. For arriving at budget of a
communication campaign, the campaign planners first require to determining the
resources (material, persons, equipment etc.) required for the campaign
implementation, as per its strategy and tactics, then quantify the requirement or
decide how much of each resources are required. After defining the resources type
and its quantity, then the campaign planner estimates the total budget of the
campaign. Some percentage of the budget is kept for contingency purposes. Based
on available budget, the campaign planner may revise the communication campaign
plan.
Evaluating the Campaign: Evaluation determines the effectiveness of the
communication campaign. A campaign is evaluated for its results, whether it has
achieved the objectives of the campaign. Evaluation is the last step in a
communication campaign. However, it needs to be decided how the campaign will
be evaluated in the campaign planning stage. The evaluation assesses the
effectiveness of message, distribution and media usage, finds out impacts of the
campaign such as changes in audience's awareness and attitude as well as reputation
or perception of the organisation among the audiences. It also finds what went right
and what went wrong. The findings serve as learning for design of next
communication campaign or programme. The result of the campaign is compared
with the set objectives of the campaign to measure the success. There are various
techniques to evaluate a communication campaign. A campaign can be evaluated
through a systematic research, survey or monitoring the coverage etc. During the
planning step, the campaign planners need to clearly layout the evaluation methods
and criteria. The methods should be systematic and criteria should be credible,
realistic and in accordance to the stated objectives.
2.7SUMMARY
Effective communication organisations are required to plan their communication
activities in advance. Corporate Communication strategy supports organisations to
proactively manage their stakeholders with a focus on developing mutually
beneficial relationship and cooperation. It serves as a link between the overall
corporate strategy and corporate communication function, maximizing the function's
contribution to the success of the organization (Steyn, 2000).
Developing corporate communication strategy requires clear understanding about the
internal as well as external environment of the organisation. Internal environment
includes profile of the organisation, its vision, values, culture, policies, philosophy
etc., whereas external environment covers stakeholders of the organisation, social,
political, regulatory and other factors that affects the organisations. There are ten
steps in developing a corporate communication strategy. After finalising the
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corporate communication strategy, it is converted into programmes and campaigns
as part of the implementation process. A communication campaign is a target
oriented series of coordinated communication efforts designed to reach mostly a
wider audience with several informational and persuasive messages around certain
issue or topic to achieve predetermined goals or objectives. It involves use of
multiple corporate communication tools and various media / channels to inform and
persuade people for accepting a product or service, organisation, idea or ideology,
personality, programme or policy or behavioural changes etc. Planning a
communication campaign also requires step by step process.
2.8 CHECK YOUR PROGRESS
1. Define Corporate Communication Strategy.
2. What are various steps in communication campaign planning?
3. What is situation analysis during a communication campaign?
4. Why a corporate communication strategy is important?
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3.1 LEARNING OBJECTIVES
This unit discusses some of the important corporate communication tools. At the end
of this unit, learners would be have a better understanding of the following:


Employee Communication



Financial Communication



Consumer Relations



Media Relations

3.2 INTRODUCTION
Employees, financial institutes, investors, consumers and media are some of the
highly important stakeholders for any organisation. For an organisation to operate
smoothly and for its success, these stakeholders need special attention from the
corporate communication perspective. Effective communication and relation with
these stakeholders can earn good reputation as well as competitive advantage for the
organisation, resulting in higher performance and overall success. Since these
stakeholders groups have different information need and nature, the corporate
communication activities are customised for each of these groups. Therefore, these
are called specialised areas of corporate communication. Let's discuss about
communication strategies for employees, financial stakeholders, consumers and
media.
3.3

EMPLOYEE COMMUNICATION

The basic contract between the organisation and its employees is that the later
provide their labour in exchange for financial (salary or wages) and other benefits.
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However, the relationship between employees and the organisation goes beyond this
basic contract. An organisation may have best product or service in the market, but it
is the performance of the employee that impacts overall output of the organisation.
Good employees can contribute to the organisation's productivity and better
performance.
From corporate communication perspective, employees are one of the strategic
stakeholders of an organisation, not just paid workers or labour force. This is
because, besides being the part of the labour force, employees have several other
important roles that can influence an organisation's operation and accomplishment of
organisational goals. For example, they may be part of the labour union that
negotiates wages and other employment conditions. They may be part of the local
community that can affect the organisation's social license to operate. They can be an
investor or part of political group in their outside life (Lerbinger, 2019). Therefore
having good relationship and communication with and between employees has
strategic importance for organisations. It helps in not only motivating and building
trust among the employees, but also contributes in better coordination of work,
increasing overall productivity and profitability as well as achievement of objectives
of the organisation. It also influences overall corporate reputation of the
organisation, as a happy employee spreads positive images of the organisation,
whereas a disgruntled employee can send negative vibes about the organisation.
3.3.1 Definition of Employee Communication
Several scholars have argued in favour of growing importance of Employee
Communication, which is also known as Internal Communications or Employee
Relations. For its strategic importance and contribution to overall organisational
success and reputation, employee communication has emerged one of the important
specialised sub functions of corporate communication domain. However, there is no
universally agreed definition of the term. In simple words it refers to
"communications and interactions among employees or members of an
organization" (Berger, 2008, para. 9).
Gillis (2008) define Employee communication as "the process of exchanging
information and creating understanding and behaviours among employees that
reinforce the organization’s vision, values and culture, enabling employees to
communicate the company’s message to external audiences" (p. 102).According to
Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman, and Toth (2012), employee communication "creates and
maintains internal systems of communication between employers and employees" (p.
213).
From these definitions it is evident that employee communication considers
employees or people within the organisation as its primary stakeholders and hence, it
is directed towards them. Employee communication is the systematic set of
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communication activities that involves exchange of information, ideas, opinions and
feedback with and among employees within an organisation to build and strengthen
favourable relationship among the employees as well as between the organisation
and its employees. It contributes for better coordination and collaboration among
employees to achieve the organisational objectives.
3.3.2 Role, Objectives and Importance of Employee Communication
Effective employee communication has been found to be an important factor in
overall satisfaction of employees, organisation's productivity and ultimately, success
of the organisation. According to Dolphin (2005), role of employee communication
includes “building and nourishing employee relations, establishing trust, providing
timely and reliable information and thereby contributing to general motivation,
particularly in times of change and stress” (p. 171).Employee communication has
three broad roles within an organisation.
 Strengthen Internal Relationship: One of the important outcomes of effective
communication is establishment and strengthening of relationship. Good
relationship within an organisation, which includes relationship among
employees as well as the management and the employees, is vital for functioning
and growth of an organisation.
 Improve Employee Motivation: Employees are more excited about their work
and connected to the organisations vision, if they are given adequate and timely
information about the organisation and properly listened to. Employee
communication helps in facilitating exchange of such information within the
organisation and contributed to motivate employees, building mutual trust and
create shared identity. This in turn results in improved employee productivity and
higher organisational performance.
 Better Coordination and Collaboration. Internal communication helps in better
coordination and collaboration between various groups, units, departments, and
services of the organisation by establishing a two way communication system.
Employee communication has strategic importance for organisations for various
factors. It not only helps organisations to operate effectively and be more productive
but also has strategic role in influential overall reputation of the organisation.
According to Lattimore (2012) et al, Employee Communication is important (p. 216)
because:
a) Employees want information about their companies and they crave
communication, especially from their leaders.
b) There is a link between open communication and manager satisfaction with
their roles.
c) Effective two-way communication is key to address new business challenges
because employees are more confident that they can help move their businesses
forward.
d) Employee communications can be critical to maintaining good customer
experiences.
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According to Argenti (1998), key goals for effective employee communications (p.
201) are:
1)
To improve morale and foster goodwill between employees and
management.
2)
To inform employees about internal changes such as a reorganization or staff
promotions.
3)
To explain compensation and benefit plans such as a new health-care plan or
an employee assistance program.
4)
To increase employee understanding of the company and its products,
organization, ethics, culture, and external environment.
5)
To change employee behaviour toward becoming more productive, quality
oriented, and entrepreneurial.
6)
To increase employee understanding of major health/social issues or trends
affecting them such as child care or AIDS.
7)
To encourage employee participation in community activities.
Structure of Employee Communication:
Organisations, to make employee communication effective, need to create structure
of communication process. There can be three broad structures downward or top
down, upward to bottom up or horizontal or lateral.
Downward or Top Down Structure:
In this kind of structure, communication flows from higher level to lower level of the
organisation. The top ranking officials or the management initiates the
communication and information reaches to the junior level functionaries after
passing through different level. It is the traditional communication structure and
found in most of the organisations. According to Canary (2011) downward
communication is suitable for five general purposes: Sharing of Information about
Implementation of goals, strategies, and objectives of the organisation;
communicating job instructions and rationale; informing about procedures and
practices; sharing performance feedback; and communicating about socialisation.
Upward Communications Structure:
In upward or bottom up communication structure, information flows from the
bottom levels to the top levels of an organization. Unlike downward communication,
employees at lower levels of the organisation initiate the communication in upward
communication structure. Katz and Kahn (1996) breaks upward communication into
four types: information about the subordinate her/himself, information about coworkers and their problems, information about organizational policies and
procedures, and information about the task at hand. Upward communication helps
the organisations to gather information about needs, perceptions and opinions of
employees.
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Lateral Communication Structure:
Lateral communication or horizontal communication in an organisation, as defined
by Beger (2018) is "the exchange and sharing of information between employees
within the organization for the purpose of fulfilling a common purpose" (p. 370).
Unlike upward or downward communication structures which are known as vertical
structures, information flows across the
organisation. According to Canary
(2011), lateral communication can be
divided into three categories (1)
Intradepartmental problem solving, in
which communication takes place
between employees working in same
department to coordinate or complete
task, (2) interdepartmental coordination,
in which communication takes place between employees in different department of
the organisations to complete joint projects or tasks, and (3) Expert advice, in which
a functional specialist interacts with other employees offering support for completing
the task. Lateral communication is less structured and makes employee more
comfortable in communicating.
3.3.4 Vehicles of Employee Communication
Communication Channel or medium plays a significant role in the communication
process. We all know the famous phrase "The medium is the message" coined by
Marshall McLuhan in 1964. Vehicle of communication affects the way the target
audience would receive the message. This also holds importance in 'Employee
Communication'. Though most of the early communication channels offered oneway communication opportunities, with advanced of technology several interactive
medium are now available. Let's discuss some of the popular communication
vehicles used for employee communication.
Face-to-face meetings: This is one of the most preferred channels of employee
communication as it demonstrates importance as well as builds credibility and trust.
It provides opportunity for instant feedback and addressing sensitive issues. In face
to face communication, both the sender and receiver of employee communication
present at same location and same venue. It is one of best communication vehicles to
transmit sensitive information and explaining a situation.
House Journal or Newsletter: This is a periodical or magazine published by an
organisation for its employees. Also known as employee magazine or house organ,
this is a very popular channel for employee communication. House journals serve
multiple purposes which include being a mouthpiece of the organisation, a platform
for exchange of news and views, tools to transmit detailed and authentic information
etc. Jethwaney (2018) suggests that "a house journal can cover topics that would
include the organisation's achievements fulfilment of targets, futuristic plans, human
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interest stories, social news, employee contribution and so on" (p. 106). Though
some house journals are registered with the Registrar of Newspapers for India, it is
not mandatory. However, it is always safe to write 'For internal circulation' on the
cover page. It can also be sent in electronic formats. It should be reader oriented and
should not become mouthpiece of the management. House journals and newsletters
help in elaborating and explaining message. Employees get time for reflection as
well as feedback.
In-House Television: In-house Television, also known as Closed Circuit Television
is a television channel developed by organisations and distributed exclusively among
the organisation's employees or their family members. These are like house journals,
but the content in this case is audio-visual. It was mostly found in companies where
the employees live in specified townships or work in large offices. In-House TV was
operational through the cable network. Some bigger companies also use satellite
network to transmit their in-house TV. It is an excellent medium to connect
employees who are geographically present in multiple locations. In time of crisis it
can also be very helpful. This helps the organisations to reach out the employees as
well as their family members. However, with growth of digital technologies and
audio-visuals, use of this in-house television is getting less attraction. Digital Video
sharing platforms and social media is used to share audio-visual messages.
Employee Handbooks: This is also one of the important printed medium for
employee communication. It is used to share information about general guidelines,
policies and operating procedures of the organisation. It also communicates strategic
information about the organisation including vision and mission of the organisation.
Employee Handbooks are often developed as a reference document for employees
and are updated regularly. It can also be made and distributed in digital formats.
Town hall meetings: Town Hall Meetings, which is also known as town halls or
town hall forums area type of mass meeting of employees at one location. Town
Halls intend to reach out all the employees. Town Halls are very helpful in
communicating important news, sharing policy matters, celebrating or recognising
successes as well as sharing information that can affect all employees. Town Halls
can be organised at certain interval or as and when required, as per the convenience
of the organisation. Town Hall meets are great medium to establish personalised
connect between the management and the employees, boost mutual interaction and
create the buzz around the message.
Town Halls are organised internally within the organisation, mostly in office canteen
or cafeteria or conference hall etc. However, employees in different locations can
also be connected through digital technologies such as webinars or
videoconferencing or streaming services. For larger audiences and if required, we
can use audio visual aids like power point presentations, microphone, video players,
projectors etc.
47

Employee Suggestion Scheme: Employee suggestion schemes are one of the
important communication channels to listen to and get ideas from employees for
innovation and improvement in organisation. Under this scheme employees are
encouraged to submit their innovative ideas in a prescribed format about solving or
addressing a problem or issue in the organisation, improving the system and process,
enhancing productivity, improving performance of the machinery and equipment or
optimising resource management and cost saving. The ideas submitted by the
employees are reviewed by the management and the ideas which found to be
innovative and implementable are rewarded. For offline submission, organisations
place Idea Boxes or suggestion boxes at different locations. Some organisations also
provide online platform to submit their ideas. Employee Suggestion Scheme is good
tool for the management to gather fresh ideas and boost employee morale.
Employees also feel more satisfied when they get opportunity to contribute to
decision making process.
Management Visits: For larger or multi-location based organisations, the top
management of the organisation (such as MD/CEO/Chairman) cannot be present at
all work location always. They operate from a different location and occasionally
visit the work location or project sites. From corporate communication perspective
the visit by management offers two opportunities: One, employees feel motivated
when they find top management with them and secondly, such visit offer good
opportunity for media coverage (Jethwaney, 2018). For employee communication,
interactive session with the visiting top official can be organised. This gives
opportunity to employees to express themselves freely, share new ideas and
suggestions as well as present their grievances. The top management also gets
opportunity to understand the employees and their issues.
Bulletin Boards: Bulletin Boards are one of the traditional channels of internal
communication that helps in continuous flow of information concerning employees.
These are placed at prominent locations where employees can find and see it without
any difficulties. It is effective channel to disseminate routine news and up to date
information about the organisation. Besides organisational news it can also include
information about employees and their families, press coverage etc. Now-a-days,
bulletin boards are coming in digital formats with more interactive features.
Events: Events like celebration of annual day of the organisation, success party,
special days, and road shows also create several opportunities for communicating
with employees. The management speaks to the employees directly. Such occasions
are generally used to declare success and announcements. It is also used to honour
high performing employees.
Digital Media: Internet enabled digital channels of employee communication have
interactive and rich content sharing features, which makes them popular among
organisations and employees. Therefore more and organisations are now using
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various digital communication channels for communicating with their employees.
Some of the popular digital communication channels for internal communication are:
email, intranet, instant messaging, employee blogs, internal social networking
platforms etc.
Email or Electronic mail is part of everyday life for most of the employees. It is also
one of the widely used internal communication tool. Because of its speed, email can
be used to reach out a huge number of employees very fast and in a cost of effective
way. It has two useful features that are it is recorded and can be editable. Recording
feature means conversation of both sender and the recipients are recorded, whereas
editable feature gives the option to verify and rectify the message before it is sent.
Intranet is portal is fast becoming the most important and main channel of employee
communication across the world. It is a private networking (or in simple word a
private website), accessible only to employees of the organisation. Outsiders cannot
access an intranet portal. It provides an excellent platform for internal
communication by sharing information, centralising information and document
resources, forms, training materials etc. as well as publishing blogs, news, and
posting audio-visual content. It can also be made available through mobile apps also.
Employees can find news and information at any time at this single source and even
can share information, ideas and articles across the organisation. It can be interactive
as employees can share their comments and views and start discussion. It can
include frequently asked questions and standard operating procedure, which can be
referred by the employees whenever they want. Intranet should be simple, easy to
use and have designed creatively to draw attention of employees. Some of the
suggested content for an intranet are:
1. Informational about strategy, goals, mission, vision, policies of the
organisation
2. Official documents, manuals, and forms
3. Information about corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities
4. Brand Guidelines, Logo, Organisation Brochures.
5. Information about product and services
6. Information about different units and locations
7. Information about new hire / promotion etc.
8. Information related to HR
9. Articles from or interview of top management on relevant issues
10. Regular update about organisation's performance and success
11. Case Studies and best practices
Instant Messaging or IM is a real-time transaction of text based communication over
internet. It is similar to chat and specific apps. Some of the popular IM apps are
WhatsApp, Facebook Messenger, and Google Chat etc. Though it is basically a text
based communication tool, technological advancement has created opportunity for
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transmission of voice and audio visual content over IM. As a real time and fast
communication medium, IM is also a popular digital communication channel for
employee communication. Advanced IM applications now allow sharing of rich
content which make it more attractive. But, excessive use of IM may affect
efficiency and productivity, besides interpersonal relationship.
Blogs are popular online platform to share views. Employee Blog or Internal Blog is
similar to regular blogs but the difference is that it is accessible to employees of the
organisation. It allows employees to share their views and ideas on different topics.
Employee blogs are usually accessible though the intranet of the organisation. It can
also be made executive only blogging where the senior management people would
be allowed to write and others would be allowed to see the publications. Internal
blogs helps in keeping the employees regularly updated and interact. Employee can
share and read write up about their work, ideas, best practices, views or even their
personal lives. Through their posts in the internal blog, employee can create their
own community. An open to all internal blog helps in getting information from
lower hierarchical level. The comment feature of blogs helps in gathering feedback
from the employees.
Internal Social Networking Platforms are similar to the public social networking
sites such as Facebook or Twitter, which are used by most of us every day. These
social networking platforms are also very useful for employee communication.
However, many companies do not allow their employees to use these public social
networking platforms and hence developed their own Internal Social Networking
sites. Such internal platforms are open to only the employees of the organisation and
have features like the public social networking sites. Workplace by Facebook,
Yammer and Slack are some of the popular tools that can be customised for internal
social networking sites, which are powerful employee communication tools for
quick communication and collaboration. It can help in reducing emails and saving
money. Such platforms are found to be effective in enhancing knowledge sharing,
employee engagement, employee motivation and employee retention. Its flexibility
and informal nature makes it more popular among the employees, the younger
generation.
Grapevine Communication: The entire communication medium we discussed all
are formal employee communication medium. However, all the organisations have
an informal communication channel known as grapevine. According to Argenti
(2013) grapevine is "informal communication network including everything from
private conversation between two employees to the latest anecdotes shared in the
cafeteria" (p. 188). This is an unofficial and unorganised communication system,
which is activated more when official channels do not work or fail to do their work.
It has both positive and negative side. On positive part it can be used tactically to
spread strategic information and gather feedback from employees. On negative side
it can result in spreading rumours and half-truth. Argenti (2013) argue that
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grapevine, as a communication channel, should be given same importance as it is
given to formal channels like house journal or employee meetings. Grapevines travel
faster, do not have any rule or structure and can reach all the employees in an
organisation. It needs to be handled cautiously to overcome anysuspicions or
hostility.
Besides these communication vehicles we discussed, there are also several other
mediums available for employee communication. Some of them are 'internet radio',
customised events, dinner/lunch with top management, customised mobile
applications, corporate games etc. However, selecting the right communication
vehicle is a key challenge because of the wide range of medium available for
employee communication. Corporate communicators need to choose media for their
employee communication activities as per the objectives, strategies, audience and
message type.
3.3.5 Factors affecting effectiveness of employee communication
In an organisation, several internal problems are related to ineffective internal
communication. Blazenaite (2011) presents a list of several factors at different level
that can influence effectiveness of employee communication in organisations (p. 9697).
On the micro level, each individual communicator could and should devote more
attention to the following principles when involved in communication activities at an
organization:
1. Employee (and every member‟s) communication competence is probably the
most specific and substantial aspect of any human communication system that, if
developed, conditions the effectiveness of communication and, consequently,
decides the efficiency of major organizational processes. It manifests itself in an
ability to choose appropriate and effective communication behavior in every
situation and to reach communication results; it implies knowledge, skills, and
motivation to communicate. Specifically, at an organization, it heavily relies on
adequate presentation skills, negotiation skills, rhetorical skills, linguistic skills,
and information organization skills of an individual.
2. Personal communication style of all organization members, determined by the
communication strategy of a company and its values, results from the
development of their communication competence parameters and serves the
effectiveness of communication practices.
3. Relevant message or information perception and an adequate categorization of
information as well as feedback allow effective interaction among
communicators.
4. Careful structuring and organizing of verbal messages allows fitting an
appropriate format for any channel and means of organizational communication
and its system.
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5. Effective choice of either formal or informal communication network with the
participation of communicators from all hierarchical levels of an organization
often determines the success of not only communication but other organizational
processes.
6. Proficient and conscious use of a verbal, non-verbal kind(s) of communication,
or both of them, fates interpersonal communication success, especially in
sophisticated settings.
7. Relevant organizational communication means, employed by individual
communicators, is a crucial factor at all organizational communication stages and
in wider applications.
8. Identifying and overcoming personal communication barriers, for instance,
differing values, perception peculiarities, attitudes, etc., or semantic, physical,
socio-cultural obstacles, is a direct indication of effective communication in any
company settings.
On the mezzo level, the management of an organization, which aims at creating an
effective system of communication, should be responsible for:
1. Integration of the communication system and its all sub-systems for the goals of
the organization, as managers are those individuals who coordinate and control.
2. Leadership and management style (effective distribution and use of information,
willingness to communicate, effective vertical communication with feedback,
and encouraging employee self-awareness) directly fosters or inhibits
communication, especially nurturing real-time communication.
3. Successful selection of a channel (written vs spoken vs technology-mediated) is
of prime importance on all the levels of hierarchical communication among the
management of the company; it directly facilitates successful reaching of
company objectives.
4. Effective conflict management, that is, open exchange of information, tolerance,
and empathy, relevant for all communication process participants.
5. Effective group communication [skills], such as relevant supply of information,
effective listening, knowledgeable information analysis, efficient enquiry, and
synergy which allow efficient horizontal communication flow at an organization.
On the macro level, the organization as a whole is to mind the following factors, as
they enable a successful creation and development of an organizational
communication system:
1. Organizational objectives, namely, its mission statements valuing communication
and communicators, as well as an overall communication strategy, constitute the
baseline of communication at an organization.
2. Organization‟s communication values, such as, openness of the system,
providing and getting feedback, cooperation, valuing informal communication,
openness to change, risk tolerance, learning and improvement essentially support
the backbone of the company.
3. Strong communication ethics, manifesting itself as harmony between
organization‟s external and internal communication, positive affiliations with all
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4.

5.

6.

7.

3.4

interest groups, etiquette knowledge for employees and management also form a
communication system.
Identifying and overcoming organizational communication barriers (lack of
motivation, information overload, competition, inadequate management style)
may resolve large communication issues, sometimes challenging strategic twists
at an organization.
Proper feedback in communication processes is of paramount importance when
securing the effectiveness and dynamics of all parameters in the communication
system, especially along the lines of vertical communication. Being one of the
most influential factors of effective communication, it serves as a propellant of a
holistic functioning communication system at an organization.
Organizational structure needs to be revised as it is to enable the flow of
information, allowing the circulation of messages among communicators and
prompt feedback on all the levels of interaction.
The determination to create of a communication system itself, allowing synergy
in interaction, is one of the seminal factors when seeking effective
communication.
FINANCIAL COMMUNICATION

Investor is a person or organization that allocates capital with expectation of
receiving financial returns in future. For an organization Investors are one of the
primary stakeholders. They play a major role in growth and success of the company
as they provide financial capital, an essential component of any business, to further
its activities. There are various types of investor in the capital market. They can be
divided into two broad categories: Individual Investor and Institutional Investors.
Individual investors, also known as retail investors, consist of individual persons
who invest in equity, debt or other investments in capital market on their own. Such
investors commit finance for achieving their personal financial goals. On the other
hand, institutional investors consist of organisations that invest in capital market,
mostly on behalf of the members of the organisations. Institutional investors pool
money from individuals to invest in the market. Examples of institutional investors
include mutual fund, banks, pension fund, insurance companies, investment banks,
hedge funds and also private equity investors. Such investors are run by
professionals having knowledge and expertise on capital market. They invest money
for others for a fee and act as intermediaries between individual investors and
companies. Institutional investors constitute a major share of investors and enjoy
huge influence in the market. In order to ensure continued financial support or
capital investment, business organisations make various efforts to establish and
strengthen good relationship with these investors and other players who can
influence the investors. Communication plays an important role in Company's effort
of maintaining relationship with and building image among the financial
stakeholders.
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3.4.1 Brief Background and Evolution of Financial Communication
Business has been an integral part of the society. We can find business activities
across all civilization in the history. It is considered as a force of social good. During
earlier days, business activities were run by individuals who were the owners and
manager of their respective business. However with passage of time, business and
industrial environment progressed, it required higher financial capital to carry on its
operation. In order to attract investment from others, business owners shared his
ownership with others and concept of shareholding companies developed.
Shareholding Company emerged in 13th Century. However the first publicly traded
company in which The Dutch East India Company, which is also referred as VOC,
for its Dutch name VereenigdeOost-IndischeCompagnie, holds the distinction of
being the first publicly traded company, founded in 1602(Laskin, 2018). The idea of
opening ownership of the company to the common people became more popular in
late nineteen century. Growth of large industries and world trade created demand for
huge capital investment and companies pooled money from people by issuing shares
and other securities. Growing middle class turned to be source additional finance to
meet the need of the industry and trade. Bombay Stock Exchange was established in
1975 and is the oldest stock exchange in Asia.
Simultaneously, mass media, especially newspapers expanded significantly and
coverage of business and finance news got more focus. This is also one of the
reasons for growth of Public Relations and later corporate communication practice
across the globe. With growth of shareholding by common people during later part
of twentieth century, media and regulatory authorities focused on companies to
protect shareholders' interest. This in turn necessitated the need for having
specialised function called investor relations. Bombay Stock Exchange became the
first stock exchange of India to be recognised by the Indian Government under this
Act. Growth of financial market and economic liberalization in 1992 in India
resulted in more business media and financial institutions, including private entities.
Companies competed to attract ordinary shareholders to invest in their business by
offering various securities. This created demand for more information related to
finance of the Companies. Companies communicated the financial information to
their stakeholders, voluntarily or as regularity compliances. During this phase the
gap between corporate communication (or public relations) and financial
communication were narrowed down. A sub field of financial communication was
developed.
Presently in the changing business environment, it is important for every
organisation to communicate their financial information to relevant stakeholders so
that they can have clear understanding about the strategy and management of the
organisation and make right decision about their involvement in future. Though
companies listed stock exchanges are required to disseminate financial information
as part of their regulatory compliance, government agencies, non-listed companies as
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well as non-profit organisations are also expected to communicate their financial
data.
3.4.2 Defining Financial Communication
Financial Communication simply refers to reaching out stakeholders, who are
concerned with the financial aspects of Company's operation and performance. It
involves communication of financial information of the organisation. According to
Hutchins (2015), "financial communication entails all of the strategies, tactics, and
tools used to share financial data and recommendations with investors and other
interested parties" (p. 211).
Schoonraad, Grobler, and Gouws (2005) define financial communication as "the
establishment and maintenance of mutually beneficial relationships between an
organisation and its relevant stakeholders, by exchanging information that is needed
to facilitate optimal decisions regarding the allocation of scarce resources (financial
and non-financial)" (p.274). According to Daniel (2017) "financial communication
means all the measures taken by a company to inform shareholders and other
categories of investors, but also regulatory, supervisory and control authorities,
financial analysts, specialized media and the general public" (p.399). Dolphin (1999
define it as "external communications concerned with sending a financial message to
(a) the City, (b) shareholders, (c) financial analysts" (p. 39). According to Baykal
(2019), "financial communication refers to all kinds of financial messages conveyed
from the organization to its stakeholders" (p. 110).
From the various definitions, we can conclude that Financial Communication is
dissemination and disclosure of financial information and managing relationship
with financial stakeholders. Though financial stakeholders such as the management,
shareholders, securities analysts and other financial community are focus of financial
communication, it also targets non-financial stakeholders. It also involves building
and managing reputation of the organisation among the financial stakeholders.
Examples of financial communication are: announcement regarding appointment of
senior management, information about share price, annual report, quarterly financial
result declaration, sharing information about Board Meetings and announcement of
new acquisition or merger etc.
3.4.3 Objective & Importance of Financial Communication
Organisaitons use Financial Communication primarily to interact primarily with
their present and potential financial stakeholders, including institutional investors,
individual investors, financial analysts, media and regulatory bodies. However,
starting from regulatory compliance, the process of financial communication has
been evolved and organisaitons do not hesitate to share information to both financial
and non-financial stakeholders. Though the objectives financial communication vary
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from organisation to organisation, here are some of the general objectives of the
same:
- To support and strengthen the value and prospects of the organisation in stock
market
- To assist the organisaitons in successfully competing in capital market and
creating demand for the organisation's share
- To enhance shareholder value (Dolphin, 1999, p. 69)
- To disseminate adequate information to the capital markets
- To increase the company's stock price and to keep analysts and shareholders
aware of activities that may affect thecompany's financial performance. (Argenti,
1994, p. 185)
- To manage the relationships with actual and potential investors and other actors
of the financial markets such as financial intermediaries and analysts (Palmieri,
2014, p. 22)
- To promote the value, credibility, and reputation of the organization in order to
achieve a favourable market image about its financial strength (Belasen,2008, p.
135).
- To build and maintain positive relationship with stakeholders and financial
community
- To build and sustain investor confidence
- To explain the organisation's vision, strategy and potential to investors other
financial stakeholders (Argenti, 2013, p. 199)
- To present the organisation's financial position, performance, operation, strategy
and future prospects.
According to Daniel (2017), financial communication of economic entities provides
for the external actors an overview of entity „s global image; entity‟s management
message; entity‟s long-term vision; entity‟s accounting information (balance sheet,
profit and loss account, balance sheet, cash flows, etc.);entity‟s financial calendar;
entity‟s shareholding structure; and entity‟s corporate governance (p. 399).
The reputation of the organisations in financial market has significant impact on its
operation, growth and potential to attract investment. Financial communication is
one of the important instruments to build and strengthen image of the organisation in
financial market as well as to manage relationship with various stakeholders.
Effective financial communication practice holds importance for business
organisation for several reasons. Some of the reasons are:
• It builds trust and credibility of the organisation in the capital market.
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•

It helps in complying regulatory requirement

•

It promotes the organisation and its prospects to the finance community

•

It enhances accountability of the organisation

•

It promotes evaluation of the organisation, identifying its strength and
weaknesses

•

It attracts more investors, thus improving the organisation's access to capital

•

It enhances employee productivity as employees get an understanding about the
organisation and its financial positioning

•

It improves overall image of the company among stakeholders.

3.4.4Audiences for Financial Communication
Financial Communication is primarily aimed at various players of the capital market.
It is deliberately directed at the financial stakeholders or the people and
organisations who are interested
about the financial aspects of
the
organisaiton.
Interconnection between these
stakeholders and development
of various intermediaries in the
capital market make financial
communication more complex
for
the
organisaitons.
According to Phillimore (2012),
"each of these can be important
stakeholders for companies
communicating financial information and seeking to build medium- to long-term
relationships". However the stakeholders in financial communication can be divided
into four broad groups: Investors, Intermediaries, Regulatory Institutions and Others.
INVESTORS: Investors are considered to be the cornerstone of capital market. They
put their money through the capital market with expectation of achieving profit or
growth in future. Investors can be further divided into two types:: Individual or
Retail Investors and Institutional Investors. Individual investors are persons who
hold share of the company. Institutional Investors, such as insurance companies,
pension fund, mutual funds and banks etc., consists of organisations or institutions
who own share of the company. As institutional investors hold sizable stake in an
organisaiton and deal with huge capital they enjoy huge influence in the market and
the company.
Retail and Institutional investors have different nature and purpose; hence their
demand for information is different. According to Argenti (2013), "Individuals
investors often require less details information due to their relative lack of
sophistication but require more hand holding with respect to routine matters such as
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stock split transactions" (p. 200). They are more dispersed which makes the
company's effort to communicate with them difficult. Channels used by Companies
to reach retail investors are direct mail, communication through affinity groups (such
as shareholders, customers, employees, supplies etc.), promotion through brokerage
community, visibility through media coverage and financial advertising and sharing
information through corporate websites etc. (Argenti, 2013).
Institutional Investors are more sophisticated are they are run by professionals
having expertise and knowledge on financial market and economy. Since
institutional investors hold sizable number of shares, they can influence the stock
price significantly. If they decide to sell their share in a company, it can trigger fall
in the price of the company's stock. Holding many shares also make the institutional
investors influential during voting in the Company meetings. Their demand for
financial information is much higher than that of retail investors. Also they are,
according to Phillimore (2012), "greatly influenced by „third party‟ or independent
comments in the media and from analysts, and by the company‟s regulatory
communications" (p. 315). Companies can communicate with institutional investors
through third party intermediaries such as media and market analysts, one-to-one
meetings, regular sharing of information through email, website, phone etc., building
relationship with CEO or CFO of the organisation, responding to their demand for
information and organising meetings / formal gathering etc. Communication with
Institutional Investors is more a two way in nature as they are highly active in
financial market.
INTERMEDIARIES: In financial communication Company and Investors are the
primary players. However, capital market has developed several individuals and
entities that facilitate communication between the company and its present as well as
future investors. These communication intermediaries gather financial information
about the company, industry, market etc., analyse, interpret and present the
information for consumption of various stakeholders. Investors often rely upon them
to get information about the company. They form the third party or independent
voice of the market and enjoy huge credibility. Among them Media, Analysts and
Rating Agencies enjoy huge influence as financial communication intermediaries.
MEDIA: With growth and influence of business and trade in the society, media is
increasingly focusing on business world. It has become a major source of
information about finance and economy. Therefore, media in general and financial
media in particular hold significant influence in capital market. Business News
Channels and websites disseminate information about Company's share price on
real-time basis. Coverage in newspapers can also have huge impact in stock price.
The perspectives presented by a financial columnist can impact a company's share.
Interview of a Company CEO in newspaper can clear various questions or doubt of
investors about a company. Media also plays an important role in disseminating
views of analysts to the investor community. In order to reach out media, company's
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need to have a well-coordinated media relationship management function.
Company's should be accessible to media outlets and maintain good relationship
with media and journalists with consistent messages (Argenti, 2013).
ANALYSTS: Analysts make financial analysis and recommendation for an
organisation based on factors like industry trends, economy, financial position of a
company or group etc. They are also known as securities analyst, financial analysts,
research analyst, market analysts, equity analyst, investment analyst, or rating
analyst. Analysts collect qualitative and quantitative information about different
companies, interpret and evaluate the information, make assessment of opportunities
and risks and predict the outcome and recommend accordingly. There are two types
of analysts: Buy-Side and Sell-Side analysts.
Buy-side analysts work for money management firms or institutional investors such
as pension fund, mutual fund, hedge fund or trusts and are responsible for
conducting research and recommending investment opportunities for the firm. They
suggest the fund managers of the firm what to buy. On the other hand, sell-side
analysts work for brokerage firms and investment banks and are responsible for
conducting investment research and recommending to when and what to buy or sell
stocks or other securities. They express their recommendation on a specific
investment in terms of 'buy, 'sell, or 'hold' advice. The 'analysts' referred in media are
often 'sell-side analysts'. Their recommendations are considered to be unbiased and
proprietary research based. Both type of analysts conduct independent investment
research and provide impartial analysis about a company and market. Most of the
analysts have good relationship with financial media, which adds to their strength
further. Their unique position and influence in capital market makes them an
important audience fir financial communication by companies, especially listed
companies. Though both side analysts are vital for companies, sell-side analysts act
as intermediaries between the company and its present and prospective investors.
Buy-side analysts are part of institutional investors and hence are not intermediaries
(Argenti, 2013). Financial Communication function is responsible for building and
managing relationship between the companies and the analysts who covers the
company.
The basic practice in analyst relationship management is identifying the analysts
who cover the company, having meeting with them, drawing their attention and
making them understand about the company and the industry in which the company
operates. Responsiveness, honesty and regular communication are very important
(Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman & Toth, 2012). Conference call through video
conferencing or telephone in which the CEO and CFO of the company briefs about
the company and its performance and answers queries, analyst meetings and visits
are some of the means for building and strengthening relationship with analysts.
RATING AGENCIES: Credit Rating is analysis and estimation about the ability of
an entity or a financial instrument to meet their financial commitments. In other
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words it is the assessment of the credit risk associated with a borrower and
forecasting their ability to repay the debt. A credit rating agency or simply rating
agency is an organisation that assigns credit rating to organisations, based on
evaluation of their financial strengths. It shows the rating agency's confidence level
about the debtor's ability to pay back the debt and probability of default. Investors
refer to the credit rating as an indication of risk level and the possibility of getting
back the money owed to them as per the agreed terms of investment. Each rating
agency use different symbol or letter to indicate the rating based on their assessment.
Rating can be given to companies, individuals, centuries or governments,
institutions, NGOs etc. Some of the popular of Rating Agencies are Standard and
Poor‟s (S&P), Moody‟s Investor Services, Fitch Group and Credit Analysis and
Research Limited (CARE).
Rating agencies make analysis of the companies like the analysts but they focus on
the creditworthiness of the companies. They make an assessment of the company's
financial
strength,
review
its
borrowing or lending history, evaluate As per The Securities and Exchange Board of
creditworthiness and prepare a India (SEBI), the registered and authorised credit
rating agencies are:
detailed report with appropriate rating. 1. CRISIL Limited
The agencies make their rating public 2. India Ratings and Research Pvt. Ltd.
3. ICRA Limited
through media and published reports.
It is the responsibility of the financial 4. Credit Analysis & Research Ltd. (CARE)
communication function to develop 5. Brickwork Ratings India Pvt. Ltd.
6. SMERA Ratings Limited
and manage relationship with the 7. Infomerics Valuation and Rating Pvt. Ltd.
credit rating analysts. According to
Argenti (2013), "Credit Rating Analysts are similar to equity research analysts when
it comes to their relationship with a company, with the obvious exception that they
will focus great deal more on the company's debt structure" (p. 208). Financial
communication person need to accessible to the credit rating analysts and be truthful
in their communication with them.
REGULATORY INSTITUTIONS: Capital Market is often regulated by the
Government through various institutions formed under different regulations. The
regulations are aimed at making the capital market more efficient, providing fair
opportunity for all. In India the Capital market is controlled through various
independent regulators such as Reserve Bank of India (RBI), Securities and
Exchange Board of India (SEBI) and Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (IRDA). Government also plays an important role in regulation of
the market. Besides there are several other financial intuitions such as stock
exchanges who are also important stakeholders for a Company. Financial
Communication function is responsible for sharing required information to the
regulatory institutions as per the rules and regulations framed time to time. For
example SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation - 2015
and subsequent amendments requires listed company to disclose all events or
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information to the stock exchanges at within certain time frame as per the type of
event or information. For example according to Regulation 33 of SEBI (LODR)
Regulation, companies are required to submit quarterly financial result within 45
days from the quarter end (except last quarter) and annual financial result within 60
days from end of Financial Year. Financial Communication teams needs to be well
versed in different rules and regulations to comply with the financial intuitions.
OTHERS: Besides these target audiences, there are also several other stakeholders,
mostly non-financial, who would are concerned about the financial health of an
entity. For example, a supplier or vendor would be keenly watching the company's
financial position and would prefer to have transactions with a company having good
financial position. Employees would be demotivated about their future, if they find
that their company is not financially sound. Public, local community and customers
can also be included in this category. Though these stakeholders may not be
demanding for financial information of the company, sharing the same with them
can help in earning their trust and enhancing corporate reputation.
3.4.5Responsibilities of Financial Communications
As we discussed, financial communication function primarily deals with mostly the
financial stakeholders of the company and is responsible for sharing information
related to financial aspects of the company. The major responsibilities of financial
communication in an organisaiton are:
 Building and improving the company's image and credibility in financial market.
It helps the organisations to attract more investors
 Advising the senior management about how to deal with investors and the
financial community. It effective management of investors and financial
stakeholders.
 Building relationship with various financial and non-financial stakeholders
through regular engagement with the later.
 Creating Demand Securities of the Company in the stock market or capital
market is befittingly as per the performance and industry environment.
 Organising Events such as investor and analyst meet, investor meetings, press
conferences, investor visits or tours etc to reach out and build relationship with
important financial stakeholders and disseminate financial information.
 Preparing various material and documents for sharing of financial information.
They prepare and maintain a calendar for financial communication activities.
 Sharing different information within certain time frame with the regulatory
institutions as per regulatory requirement and guidelines from time to time.
 Monitoring the market environment, financial reporting of the competition and
industry, comments by analysts, coverage by media as well as regulatory
changes.
 Addressing needs for financial information by various stakeholders during
special situations such as crisis or merger and acquisition.
61

Overall the financial communication team of a company is responsible for
addressing the concerns of various stakeholders interested in financial aspects of the
organisaiton. They share financial information to analysts, investors, media,
financial institutes, vendors, employees and customer etc. in the language that
presents the right image of company with respect to its operation, performance and
future prospects. They create and share different content on financial or related
information for annual report, press release, financial advertising, new product
launching etc. It makes communication strategies to maximise support from and
develop good reputation in investing and financial community.
3.4.6 Channels for Financial Communication
Organisations use various communication vehicles to implement their financial
performance and future potential for growth. Some of the channels are used to
communicate with a specific type of target audience and some are helpful to reach
out more than one type of stakeholders. Therefore, the financial communication
professional need to be careful about selection of right communication channel to
convey financial information to the market and achieve their communication goals.
Some of the channels for financial communication are:
Annual & Quarterly Reports: Companies are expected to report their financial
performance on quarterly and annual basis. Quarterly reports cover the financial
results in the three months and are reported to the stock exchanges for providing
information to the investors. Companies also share the quarterly report highlights
and important announcements through press releases, press conferences and also
through advertisement in leading newspapers. At the end of every year,
organisations prepare and send Annual Report about their business and financial
performance.
Annual Report is one of the most important channels for not only communicating the
financial information of the company but also "to reinforce their credibility, establish
their distinct identity, and build investor confidence, support, and allegiance"
(Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman, and Toth, 2012, p. 301). Annual reports are
comprehensive reports that show the company's activities and financial performance
during the part one year (Indian Financial Year is from 1st April to succeeding 31st
March) as well as present future goal and prospect of the organisation. Some
companies also produce abridged version of the annual report with extracts of key
points and highlights of the annual report. Annual reports are referred by various
stakeholders including investors, media and analysts throughout the year. "By
accident or by design, the report usually conveys much about the personality and
quality of the corporation‟s management," (Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman, and Toth,
2012, p. 301). Annual reports are generally shared through filing to stock exchanges
and regulatory bodies, email/postal communication to shareholders and also through
the company websites. General content of the annual report include; General
information about the organisaiton, Information about the board of directors, key
62

management / Leadership Team, Highlights of the Performance, Director's / Board's
Report, Corporate governance information, Management Discussion and Analysis,
Chairpersons Message / Statement, Production / Service Highlights, Independent
Auditor's report, Financial statements, Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss,
Cash Flow Statement, Notes to the financial statements, Information about
Associates and Joint Ventures, Notice of the Annual General Meeting and Other
Relevant Information. Information about corporate social responsibility activities,
different policies and business responsibility report are also included in the Annual
Report.
Media Relations: Mass Media, especially financial press, is one of the preferred
vehicles for financial communication because of their huge reach and credibility.
Getting positive coverage about the company's performance and its future prospects
in financial media adds to the reputation of the company in capital market. Financial
Communication professionals identify important publications/media as well as
journalists covering the company and / or industry and build long-term relationship
with them. They promote the company in financial press and trade media through
various available media relations techniques such as regular meetings, feature stories
in leading publications, pitching for good story ideas, profiling the company or
management team, interview of CEO or Chairman of the company etc. They update
the journalists with accurate and latest information and views / perspective of the
management. Press release is also an important tool in communicating with financial
press. Good coverage in media can help in reinforcing confidence of institutional
investors, interest of individual investors, boosting employee motivation and
informing other stakeholders.
Annual Meetings: Annual General Meeting (AGM) is mandatory for almost all
organisations. Irrespective of different meetings held in organisations, all companies
are required to organize annual general meetings every year.
A notice is sent to all members before the AGM. Organization's Articles of
Association, Bylaws, and Laws by the government specify the rules of the AGM.
AGM discloses details of the company functioning over the previous year. The
information is presented in quantitative and qualitative form. AGM create formal
opportunity for investors, individuals and institutional, to meet the management of
the company face to face and question them. It gives the democratic rights to small
investors. "The AGM’s purpose is to seek approval for the resolutions set out in the
annual report, to reelect the company’s directors and auditors and for the annual
report to be formally accepted" (Phillimore, 2012, p. 321). Financial Communication
professional help not only in organising the AGM but also in preparing financial
information dissemination through the presentations, reports and CEO/Chairman's
speech etc. They use the opportunity to promote the company's strategy and image
among the financial stakeholders in particular and the customer / public in general.
They also anticipate possible issues to be raised by investors and try to proactively
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address the same through speech / presentation by the management. Important
announcements / decisions of the AGM are circulated through press releases.
Conference Call & Analyst Meetings: Companies also organise conference callas
and meetings of analysts and financial journalists to draw the attention of the
investors, analysts and media. Most of the companies organise conference call
immediately after declaration of the financial results at the end of each quarter. The
conference calls are usually held over telephone and now video conferencing.
Analyst meets are held face to face. Such programmes help the management of the
company to explain the financial results and other related aspects of the company.
Such explanation by the management helps the investors, analysts and journalists to
have better understanding about the company's economic health, industrial
environment in which it operates competitive advantages and possible impact of the
present financial result on future earning and prospects. This in turns helps in
improving their forecast about the finance of the company and its future.
In conference calls and analyst meets CEO, CFO and other senior management of
the company participate. Usually it begins with introduction by the Financial
Communication and/or Investor Relations Officer. This is followed by explanation
by the CEO and CFO. They provide an overview of issues that affected the
performance of the company and strategy for the future. It ends with question and
answer sessions. Most of the company put the transcript of the conference call in
their respective websites.
Site Visits/Tours: Companies organise visits of institutional investors and analysts
to their office and production facilities to give the later the first-hand experience
about their business and operation. Such visits help the institutional investors and
analysts acquire information by direct observation and discussion with employees.
During such visits they are led by top management of the Company, briefed about
the company and its facilities through presentations and are exposed to the
operational facilities and operating managers. This improves their understanding
about the company and its operation and helps them to make better forecast about
the company's prospects. It also helps them to understand if there is any gap between
the disclosure by the company and their onsite actual observation. Industrial plants
organise such visits regularly.
Websites: For many stakeholders, websites are one of most preferred and accessed
source of information about the company. This is also an effective channel to
disseminate different financial information to investors and other stakeholders.
Irrespective of the financial sophistication of the stakeholders website can deliver the
information more quickly and reliably to the capital market. Therefore, most of the
companies are now having dedicated investor section (named as Investor Services /
Investor Corner / Investor Services) in their website that acts as important channel
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for their financial communication. Some large companies are also having separate
websites for their financial communication.
Websites allow companies to share current and past information, which showcases
the track record of the company. This helps investors and analysts to forecast about
the company in a better way. There are also some statutory requirements for
uploading certain information in the company websites.
Investor Roadshows: Investor Road Show is the one of the effective advanced
financial communication channel in which CEO, CFO and other top management
makes presentation about the company to present and prospective investors in
various locations. It allows the management to explain the company's operation and
prospects with facts and figures to the investors. It also helps in clarifying investors'
queries. It is an effective channel for direct communication between the company
and the investors and building trust. There are two types of investor road shows:
Deal Road Show and Non-Deal Road Show. Deal Road Shows are conducted mostly
during Initial Public Offering (IPO) or stock launching, in which shared of a
privately held company offered for buying by the public. It is a kind of advertising
the shares of the company in during IPO. In non-deal road shows, discussions are
held between the company's management and investors but no equity or debt is
offered by the company for sale. Such road shows are conducted to keep the
investors updated about the company's business, financial performance and future
vision.
Though road shows target primarily the intuitional investors, it also benefits
analysts, journalists and other stakeholders interested for financial information of the
company. Key topics included in road show presentations are; background of the
company, information about the top management, products / services offered by the
company with their features, business environment, company's unique value
proposition, strength and weakness of the company, financial performance, growth
potential with forecasts and projections and investment opportunities.
Financial Adverting: Advertising is a very useful communication tool in marketing.
In financial communication and investor relations advertising can also be helpful.
Jethwaney (2018) define financial advertising as "paid form of communication
relating to various financial instruments through use of mass media" (p. 266).
Financial advertisements disseminate information about financial and related aspects
of the organisation. It can be an excellent means of financial communication and
investor relations for medium sized companies if is visually appealing and not
crowded with information, provides the financial data and main message along with
information about source for complete information, and includes contact details of
the investment relations team of the company Guimard (2013). Financial
advertisements can be of two types: advertisements of disclosure of information as
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per regulatory requirement and advertisements with information that help enhancing
company's image and value of assessment.
Bragg (2010), though does not recommend financial advertising for large companies,
suggests that advertising can be useful during takeover contest or proxy fight
situation. It helps to send messages to shareholders quickly and efficiently.
Companies also use financial advertising during IPO marketing. It is generally
targeted to financial or investment community and hence are released mostly in
business media. While planning advertisement campaign the rules and regulation
about the format, content, channel and other aspects of financial advertising need to
be taken care of. Deceptive testimonials, use of celebrities, unfair comparison, and
presentation of misleading information in advertisement are restricted as per
guidelines of SEBI.
Besides these communication vehicles there are several other channels through
which organisations can disseminate their financial information. Fact sheets with
important facts about the organisation, reports and newsletters about latest updates
about company and Social media are some of the other means of investor
communication. The company should carefully choose the right medium according
to the target audience to be reached, type of information to be shared and objective
of the communication.
3.5

CONSUMER RELATIONS

Consumer, in simple word is the person or organisation that consumes. For
organisations they are the individuals or the organisations that pay some money to
buy a service or goods for their consumption. They are the end users of the products
or services offered by an organisation. It does not include the persons or
organisations, who buy product or service for commercial or resale purpose.
Consumers have an important role not only in the organisation but also in the
economy of the country. Without the demand from the consumers, organisations
would lack the motivation to produce, which would slow down the entire economy.
Though consumer and customers are look to be synonymous, there is subtle
difference between the two. A customer is the purchaser of goods or services offered
by an organisation. Customers pay buy the product or services through monetary
transactions. On the other hand, a consumer is who actually uses or consumes a
goods or service. Consumers may not pay for the product or services but they are the
end users. Customers can resale the product or service they buy but consumers
cannot. When customer buys products or services for own consumption, then he/she
also becomes a consumer at the same time. If a person buys grocery for his family,
the person is the customer, but the family members along with the person is the
consumer. Because of the close relationship between consumer and customer, both
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the terms are used interchangeably. For the purpose of this unit, when we discuss
about consumers, customers are also included.
Consumers play the pivotal role in business and economy. They are the purpose and
foundation of business organisations, which always exists to serve the consumers.
An organisation's success is highly dependent upon its ability to create, satisfy and
retain consumers. This because a business may be offering very high quality
products or services through excellent distribution system and having highly
motivated employees, but it would cease to sustain or exist without any consumers.
By buying product and services of the business, consumers help the business to
generate revenue, which helps the business's growth and expansion. Even for nonprofit organisations, consumers create 'a sense of purpose and focus'. Due to their
number (the number of consumers is much higher than that of any other
stakeholders) and ability to bring revenue or fund, consumers hold great degree of
importance for any business organizations (Henderson, 2012).
3.5.1 Understanding Consumer
According to Henderson (2012), the word consumer is a broad term that refers to the
end users of the product or services offered by an organisation. For a non-profit
organisation a consumer can be a client of the organisation who is benefited from the
organisation's services. For a political party, voters are the consumers. Indian
Consumer Protection Act, 2019 define a consumer in two categories; for the purpose
of goods and for the purpose of services. According to the act, a consumer means
any person who
i. buys any goods for a consideration which has been paid or promised or partly
paid and partly promised, or under any system of deferred payment and
includes any user of such goods other than the person who buys such goods for
consideration paid or promised or partly paid or partly promised, or under any
system of deferred payment, when such use is made with the approval of such
person, but does not include a person who obtains such goods for resale or for
any commercial purpose; or
ii. hires or avails of any service for a consideration which has been paid or
promised or partly paid and partly promised, or under any system of deferred
payment and includes any beneficiary of such service other than the person who
hires or avails of the services for consideration paid or promised, or partly paid
and partly promised, or under any system of deferred payment, when such
services are availed of with the approval of the first mentioned person, but does
not include a person who avails of such service for any commercial purpose.
The Act further explains that 'Commercial Purpose' does not include use by a person
of goods bought and used by him exclusively for the purpose of earning his
livelihood, by means of self-employment; and the expressions "buys any goods" and
"hires or avails any services" includes offline or online transactions through
electronic means or by teleshopping or direct selling or multi-level marketing.
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Consumers buy a product to satisfy their need. The need can be basic needs such as
food and shelter or beyond the basic requirement for survival (which can be referred
as desire or wants). Solomon (2019) defines a consumer as "a person who identifies
a need or desire, makes a purchase, and then disposes of the product" (p.7).
3.5.2 The Concept of Consumer Relations
It is indisputable that consumers are integral part of an organisation and hold vital
importance for its success and growth. They provide the revenue or fund to the
organisation, which determines income of the organisation, salary of its employees,
interest to the banks and dividend for its shareholders. Therefore, the relationship
between an organisation and its consumers goes beyond mere transactions to
relationship. All organisations make various efforts to develop a long term
relationship with their consumers through various consumer relations programmes.
The ability of corporate communication function to persuade, influence and explain
makes this function a preferred choice for organisations to build and manage
customer relations. Corporate communication and marketing discipline work in close
coordination to maximise benefits of their consumer relations programmes.
According to Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman, and Toth (2012), "Consumer relations is
the bridge between the consumer and the manufacturer or service provider" (p. 262).
It allows the consumers and the organisation to know each other better, which helps
the organisations in better understanding about the need and wants of the consumers
and offer better product or service. McKevitt (2018) says that consumer public
relations is "a specialised discipline that focuses upon the formation of meaningful
connections between consumers and brands in order to stimulate the sale of goods
or service" (p. 293).
Consumer relations in simple words refers to all the activities taken up by an
organisation to build and maintains favourable relationship with its consumers. It is
the way that a manufacturer or service provider engages with its consumers.
According to Swann (2014), "Consumer relations embodies two areas of concern:
(1) supporting marketing communication efforts to build consumer demand for
products and services, and (2) maintaining mutually beneficial and lasting
relationships between the organization and consumer" (p.359). Consumer relations
programmes, as a support to marketing communication, facilitates attitudinal as well
as behavioural change among the consumers, thus improving sales for the
organisation.
Consumer Relations focuses on building reputation and brand image of the
organisation and the product, whereas marketing communication aims at increasing
revenue through higher sales by communicating promotional messages. Effective
consumer relations programme results in development of a positive relationship
between the organisations and its consumers. But marketing communication always
focuses on selling products or services. Success of a marketing communication
programme is measured through the number of product it sells. However the
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ultimate aim of consumer relations is support sales but its role is more sophisticated
than that of marketing communication.
3.5.3Role and Objectives of Consumer Relations
The basic role of consumer relationship is to create and manage mutually beneficial
relationship with the consumers, beyond the initial purchase. According to
Hutchinson (2012), it provides "opportunities to interact with the consumer, build
relationships and converse meaningfully with them" (p. 354). Lattimore, Baskin,
Heiman, and Toth (2012), say that
Though sales is the essential objective of
"the goal of consumer affairs is to
consumer relations, other key objectives are
improve
the
organization‟s
 Keeping the old consumers happy &
relationships and communication
satisfied
with consumers by investigating
consumer issues and conveying the
 Building consumers' confidence
results to management" (265).
 Monitoring the consumer's opinion and
McKevitt (2018) argues that "the
perceptions
goal of consumer public relations is
 Developing new customers
to build relationship between an
organisation and existing or
 Educating consumers about products or
potential customers" (p. 293-294).
services
Consumer Relations functions
 Promoting sale of products
helps
the
organisations
in
 Facilitating consumer feedback
understanding the consumers and
their
issues,
communicating
 Responding to consumer complaints
effectively with them, resolving
 Building
positive
relationship
with
their issues or complaints, advising
consumer groups
the management on consumer
(Seitel, 2017. Lamb & McKee, 2005)
perception and opinion as well as
dealing with consumer advocacy groups. It is a tool to promote organisation's
products and services that ultimately drives sales.
3.5.6 Communication Activities for Consumer Relations
Communication is the building block of any relationship. Manufacturers and service
providers can establish a beneficial relationship with their consumer through
strategic communication programmes. Effective communication programmes help in
not only establishing a strong relationship with consumers but also helps to improve
corporate reputation and influence consumer's attitudes and behaviours in favour of
the company and its product or services.
According to Hayes, Hendrix, & Kumar (2013), activities and event for a good
consumer relations programme are:
• Advising management and all employees about consumer issues
• Developing an efficient consumer response system
• Handling specific consumer complaints through a customer relations office
• Maintaining liaison with external activist consumer groups
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•
•
•

•
•

Monitoring federal and state regulatory agencies and consumer legislation that
might affect the company
Developing emergency plans for a product recall
Establishing a consumer education program, including meetings, information
racks with printed materials on product uses, training video on product uses,
celebrity endorsements and tours, online interactive quiz, and paid advertising on
consumer topics
Holding employee consumerism conferences, seminars, and/or field training
Establishing a presence on a social media or virtual world Internet platform.
(Hayes, Hendrix, & Kumar, 2013, p. 259)

Communication Vehicles for Consumers Relations
There are various communication channels to convey messages to the consumers.
Selection of right communication vehicle depends upon the type of target audience,
their preferences and access to the various channels, credibility of the medium, time
line, budget available, and type of messages to be delivered. Here are some of the
widely used communication channels for effective consumer relations.
Interpersonal Communication: Interpersonal or face to face communication is an
effective channel to not only share information but also to build personal rapport and
earn trust. It is bidirectional and facilitates immediate response or feedback.
According to Hayes, Hendrix, & Kumar (2013, p. 259), "the company can employ a
consumer affairs spokesperson whose tasks may include conferring with consumer
groups, addressing community organizations, or even representing the company in
mass media appearances, including paid consumer advertising". It can also be used
in consumer response system, customer relations office, and other meetings and
conferences in the consumer relations program (Hayes, Hendrix, & Kumar 2013).
However, when the organisation is very large and / or the customer base is huge and
widely dispersed, interpersonal communication may not be suitable.
Employees: Organisation's Employees play a significant role in consumer relations
programme as the way in which they interact with the consumers' impacts the
relationship between the organisation and its consumers. According to Gupta (2005)
"Employee Education is the first objective in a consumer communication
programme" (p.205). Employee should be made understand about the organisation,
industry and the product or services, so that they can communicate the same to the
consumers effectively. They should be sensitised about consumer issues and
importance of consumer relations. Employees can be trained on handling issues of
and communication with various types of consumers. Well trained and motivated
employees work as advocates on behalf of the companies and can contribute in
establishing good consumer relationship.
Site visits by consumers: Visit to the work site or factories or offices helps in
building and strengthening relationship with various stakeholders, including
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consumers. Organisations as a part of their consumer relations programme can invite
select customers, representatives of consumer groups or influential opinion makers
to their factories or work and explain them about their manufacturing process,
quality standard it maintains, people involved in product and supply chain etc. They
get direct experience of how the product is made or service is delivered and what are
the ingredients used to make the product. It also facilitates the organisations to
response to the consumer queries and to get their feedback. As a result, a favourable
impression about the organisation and the product is created in consumers mind and
it helps in personalising the brand as well as building brand loyalty. Visiting
customers also spread their messages among others, which strengthens the corporate
image among wider audience.
Mass Media: Traditional Mass Media is one of the preferred channels of
communication for many consumer relations professionals, because of its wider
reach, persuasive power and credibility. Tench and Yeomans (2017) are of the
opinion that "Getting a journalist to write or talk on air about a company, product or
service is still the primary objective of many consumer public relations campaigns"
(p. 366). Mass media channels like newspapers, radio and television can be used to
disseminate information about the organisation or brand, new products, features of
various products, competitive characteristics of the product or brand etc. in order to
make the consumers better understand the company or its products and create
generate positive attitudes and knowledge through emotional and rational appeals.
Various media relations techniques can be used to get good coverage in mass media
channels for consumer awareness and reputation building.
Events: Exhibitions, trade shows, road shows, conferences, demonstrations other
similar events are effective communication channel to build and enhance reputation
of the organisation, sharing information about product or services and
communicating directly with the consumers. Such events shows also help in securing
good media coverage and promotion of product or brand. It helps organisations to
have better understanding about the consumers and their requirement, thus
strengthening bond between the consumers and the organisation. Several
organisations use such opportunities for launch of their new products.
Demonstrations allow consumers to personally observe or experience the product or
brand. It can be done through permanent demonstration centres or transportable
centre. Such demonstrations help to build direct connection with the consumers and
get their feedback for improvement. Consumer events also help in generating sales
and acquiring new customers.
Sponsorship: According to Lee, Sandler, and Shani (1997), Sponsorship is "the
provision of resources (e.g., money, people, equipment) by an organization directly
to an event, cause or activity in exchange for a direct association (link) to the event,
cause or activity. The providing organization can then engage in sponsorship-linked
marketing to achieve either their corporate, marketing or media objectives" (p. 162).
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It is different from advertising. "Advertising is a quantitative medium, sold and
evaluated in terms of cost per thousand. Sponsorship on the other hand is a
qualitative medium; it promotes a company in association with the sponsee" (IEG's
Guide to Sponsorship, 2017, p.1). Sponsorship has emerged one of the popular
channels for communication for organisations. It helps in enhancing or shaping
perception about the brand or product among the consumers, improving positive
consumer attitude towards the organisation or product brand, driving sales by
showcasing product attributes, generating positive publicity or more visibility in
media, and building connection between the organisation and its consumers.
Tenchand Yeomans (2017) argue that "by harnessing the emotions, qualities and
values associated with the sponsorship property and perhaps providing some form of
added-value experience, a business can successfully stand out in a cluttered
consumer market" (p.68).
Website and Social Media: Internet enabled media such as corporate websites and
social media are excellent platform to disseminate information and connect with
consumers. Its ability to reach wider audience shortest time makes it more attractive.
Organisations can share huge information through website, which is a controlled
medium. According to Hayes, Hendrix, & Kumar (2013), "one of the most important
mechanisms for effective consumer communication is the company website and
Internet presence. A Facebook site and the website can contain virtually unlimited
amounts of information useful to consumers" (p. 259). Organisations can share
information about the themselves, their brand, products, its features, availability,
unique characteristics etc. The website can also have information regarding where to
reach in case of grievance, how to find store and service centres etc. for reference of
the consumers. On the other hand social media can be used to spread awareness
about brand and the products, besides connecting with consumers. It allows the
organisations to engage in two-way communication with the consumers. Websites
and social media also help in tracking and monitoring behaviour of and feedback
from consumers. These mediums can be used in a targeted approach to maximise the
impact and reach. It can also be used to immediately respond to consumer issues.
Advertising: Advertising, according to American Marketing Association "is any
paid form of non-personal presentation & promotion of ideas, goods, or services by
an identified sponsor". It is used to draw attention of public to a something or
promote a
product, event, service, cause, organisation, or a movement.
"Organizations use advertising for public relations purposes when they are not
satisfied with what is being said in the media, when they feel that their pint of view is
not being reported" (Cutlip, Centre & Broom, 2000, p. 12). For consumer relations
advertising can be used to spread various information relevant for consumers and
build awareness about product or brand. Corporate or institutional advertising that
shares message about the organisation, its unique culture or technological
innovation, operational excellence etc. can be used to promote overall corporate or
brand image to build corporate reputation and generate consumers' interest. Such
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advertising is also used up to a point where consumers take note about the
organisation and respond to the promotional or sales advertisements.
Other Channels: These there are other communication channels such as printed
materials, product brochures, audio-visuals etc. which can be sued for
communicating with consumers. Hayes, Hendrix, & Kumar (2013) refer such
channels as controlled media and say that "controlled media for a consumer
relations program usually include printed materials on the effective use of the
company’s products or on health, safety, or other consumer-oriented topics. In
addition, specific printed materials are developed for meetings, conferences, and
other special events. Audio-visual materials such as videos and DVDs are often used
as vehicles for consumer education" (p. 259).
In addition to these major vehicles of communication, there several other
communication medium such as email, Live Chat, Social customer support, used for
reaching out the consumers. Technology helps in better understanding about
consumers and their behaviour through data. This, in turn, is used by organisations to
improve their customer relations programme. along with to these communication
channels, consumers relations programme need to be done in collaboration with
marketing function to maximise consumer experience and build better and lasting
consumer relations.
3.6

MEDIA RELATIONS

Media Relations is the most visible part of Public Relations and Corporate
Communication function. Some people consider 'public relations' is synonymous
with 'media relations' because of their close link. Public Relations, during initial
phases, evolved out of publicity and media relations. It still remains as one of the
important part of public relations and corporate communication function across the
world. As Swann (2014) puts, "Media relations is often one of the first tasks a new
public relations practitioner is assigned, and it is a high-visibility activity for any
public relations professional. The results are viewed by the masses, and that can
both raise awareness and help shape public opinion about the organization and its
mission" (p. 126).
A coverage about the company or its product or
brand in media has several implication for the
Organisation. News article talking good about
the company or its product/service would not
only generate publicity for the company, it
would also add to credibility of the organisation.
Similarly, a negative coverage may affect the
organisaition's reputation and sales. Therefore,
most of the corporate communication
professionals start their day with scanning of the
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In Media relations, media
refers to mainstream mass
media that disseminate news
and information. It includes
print, broadcast and digital
publications and channels.
These
are
also
called
uncontrolled media, as media
relations professionals have
hardly any control over these
organisations.

newspaper articles. They still wait for coverage of important events, activities or
announcement by the organisation in next edition of a newspaper of next bulletin of
the television. They make lot of effort to get their organisation's message covered in
media, so that it can reach a wider audience. Good coverage can only be possible if
the organisation have healthy media relations.
Media relations, no doubt, is an integral part of corporate communication function in
managing corporate reputation and disseminating information to various
stakeholders. It requires thorough understanding about the media environment,
thorough planning, strategies and execution to achieve desired outcome.
3.6.1 The Media Landscape
Media is the considered as the fourth estate of democracy and wields lot of influence
in the society. It is also one of the biggest channels because of its wider reach. It is
an effective medium to reach out larger and dispersed audience. In a democratic
country media enjoys great credibility and freedom. A news coverage in media is
often seen by various stakeholders, both internal and external, as trustworthy and
unbiased. Value of a good coverage in the media about an organisation is considered
to be far ahead of that of an advertisement, which is seen as biased towards the
advertiser. Negative coverage can affect an organisation in several ways.
Though there are various types of media such as newspapers, magazines, TV, radio,
professional publications, industrial journals and web news publication or production
is more or less similar across media. Journalists, first, gather and analyse information
from various sources and write or produce news stories. The stories submitted by the
journalists are further improved or modified (if required) by editorial team such as
sub-editors and / or news editors before publication or broadcast. All these people
involved in news production and publication, along with the owner of the media,
have varied degree of influence and control over the news story. Their level of
understanding, knowledge and ideology impacts the news coverage. Journalists are
usually under pressure to write news stories everyday within certain deadlines.
Having good relationship with the people involved in news production and
publication press is highly important for media relations practitioners. As Swann
(2014) says, "the emphasis on relationship building with journalists is important
because the practitioner often works hard to create a positive rapport with the key
beat reporters and editors likely to make decisions on editorial content. Editors
function as gate-keepers, shifting through hundreds of news releases and calls
weekly from organizations eager for media coverage" (p. 127).
Coverage of in news media has huge significance for organisations and their
reputation. This is because of the huge reach and credibility enjoyed by media by its
readers/views/subscribers, which also includes general public, employees, investors,
customer, community members and others. Information about or related to the
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organisation published in news stories, features or editorial in a media is considered
as trusted and truthful. The reader or viewers believe that the story is published /
broadcast after independent research and filtering by the journalist (Swann, 2014).
Therefore, it has an effect on organisation's reputation, and overall performance. Not
only the reputation, media coverage also has substantial impact on sales, success of
product / service launch, consumer relations, investor's confidence and share price
and operation.
The media landscape in the context of corporate communication is very wide and
evolving. Few decades before there were only few newspapers and electronic media
which were covering news about business organisations. Then business media – in
print and broadcast – emerged with exclusive focus on business and financial news.
Later on specialist publications focusing on specific industry or trade came out. Still
media was characterised by national and regional level Newspapers, magazines,
radio stations and TV channels. However, with advent of internet and social media
the entire media landscape has been transformed. The way news is disseminated and
consumed has been changed. Print media circulation declined, more and more
internet based news outlets emerged. More satellite based and non-terrestrial TV
channels emerged. Digital technology facilitated publication of various web based
news portals with text or video or both type of content. Social media now also
provide another outlet for news dissemination. Though traditional media still enjoy
huge reach and credibility, digital news media is growing at very fast. These digital
channels have select audience profile and reach, but coverage in such digital news
outlets, in some cases, also leads to coverage bigger and traditional media outlets.
There are several blogs and websites run by non-journalists have influence among
certain category of audiences.
The changing media landscape poses both challenge and opportunity for media
relations. It is a challenge because with such a wide media outlets, it is difficult to
keep track of which media published and also to reach out all of them in time. It is
an opportunity because the proliferated media channels have specific audience.
Understanding the media and their audience base or type makes it easier to micro
targeting for disseminating information to specific stakeholders. For example, if
there is a web news portal that publishes news about Angul District only, its viewers
are mostly from that particular district. So, if a company launches new service
Angul, this news portal would be the obvious choice the company for reaching out
the district's residents. With this kind of media landscape, it is hardly possible to
cover up information or spill new stories. Stopping negative press has become things
of past. The corporate communication need adapt to this new media landscape.
Corporate Communication professionals have various media options to disseminate
the message and reach out to their target audience. These Media are categorised into
three groups – Paid, Owned and Earned Media.
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Paid media refers to the media which can be leveraged through payment of certain
amount. You have to pay for such type of media. Advertisement in print or
commercial in television or radio are considered to be paid media. Advertisements in
digital media such as display advertisements, sponsored content, paid search, social
media advertisement are also grouped under paid media. Though it is expensive, the
advantage of paid media is that you can have control over the content, size,
placement, reach and frequency. Also paid media is less credible and in this
cluttered media environment, it is difficult to ensure that it would generate the
desired response (Seitel, 2017).
Owned media is the channels owned by the organisation. In this type of media the
organisation wholly or partially owns and operates both the media assets and
contents. Corporate Website, speeches, social media pages, brochure and publicity
collaterals are part of owned media. It provides control over content and versatility
to reach out niche target audience. Unlike paid media, it is costs much less.
However, since it is owned by the organisation, it enjoys far less credibility and
trusted (Seitel, 2017).
Earned Media is what most of corporate communication managers aspire for. It
refers to the content created by someone else, having no affiliation with the
organisation or brand. The news or interview covered in print or electronic media or
a review in social media can be included as earned media. Unlike owned or paid
media, earned media cannot be owned or bought. Neither, it provides any control
over it. Someone else can give it voluntarily. It can only be 'earned', especially
through editorial influence or media relations activities. Earned media is highly
credible and cost nothing. However, it is not free from risks. It is difficult to get
always positive coverage in earned media. Negative coverage in earned media can
be more damaging (Seitel, 2017).
In addition to these, the content generated over social media platforms are often
referred as shared media. The content is co-created by users. It propagates very
quickly from one individual to other over social networking platforms.
3.6.2 Media and Corporate Communication Relationship
Journalists and Corporate Communication professionals share a very difficult
relationship, which is often characterised by mutual dependency and mutual
mistrust. Corporate Communication professionals need journalists to get their news
published and disseminate information, whereas journalists require corporate
communication's support to gather information and make news. Both journalist and
corporate communication professionals attempt to create story or develop narrative
to disseminate information. But both perform their work with different goals and
principles. Journalists are always interested to make news stories which are balanced
and fair. They do not care whether an organisation or brand is portrayed in a positive
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or negative light. Issues with controversies, mismanagement, corruption, misconduct
or problems are more interesting for journalists. On the other hand, Corporate
Communication professionals always focus on building or promoting image of their
organisation or brand by showing it in a positive light. Accordingly they share
information. Journalists complain that Corporate Communication professionals
provide only selective information and whole truth is not being disclosed to them.
Corporate Communication professionals believe that journalists are making the news
stories unnecessarily sensational and not reporting all information provided to them.
Amid this love-hate relationship, media and corporate communication have a very
close interaction. For Corporate Communication professionals, journalists are first
an audience and then a channel through which they can disseminate their message to
a larger pubic. For journalists corporate communication is the source for
information. As Sharma (2004) argues that "The reality of mass media today is that
reporters and editors spend most of their time processing information, not gathering
it. Although journalists deny it, most of the information that appears in the mass
media comes from public relations sources that provide a constant stream of media
releases, features, planned events, and tips to the media" (p. 111).
Corporate communication not only helps in sharing readymade information, but also
helps journalists to develop better story idea or angle, facilities access to
spokesperson or expert views, and also getting explanation or simplification of s
various technical and complex subjects. It saves both time and money along with
efforts of journalists in producing the news. Many journalists and for that matter
news organisations have hardly time and resource to gather all information for news
stories to fill up their space. As Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman, and Toth (2012), write
"Although journalists like to picture themselves as reluctant to use public relations
information, economic considerations force them to do otherwise. A news staff
capable of ferreting information from every significant organization in a city without
the assistance of representatives for those organizations would be prohibitively
expensive. Through the efforts of public relations practitioners, the media receive a
constant flow of free information. Facts that journalists might not have acquired
otherwise become available in packaged form" (p. 183). It has been found that 40 to
70 per cent of news coverage is being contributed by corporate communication.
Managers of corporate communication, with expectation of good publicity, help and
facilitate the journalist's job (Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman, and Toth, 2012). They
think and act like journalists, while sharing information with media. They present the
information that conforms to the standards of journalism, so that the journalists find
it comfortable to use. Beger (2018) argue that positive media relations can be
beneficial for both corporate communication managers as well as journalists. He
suggests that "Media relations should be a mutually beneficial two-way street.
Whether they willingly admit it or not, in general, Corporate Communications
people and journalists are mutually dependent on one another. Corporate
Communication practitioners need journalists as conduits for getting messages to
various publics. Journalists need public relations people as sources for story ideas,
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leads to competent spokespersons, and specific information about stories in the
pipeline.

Information Subsidy
Coined by Oscar Gandy (1982), information subsidy refers to the process of making
readymade newsworthy information available to journalists with an intention to gain time
and space in the news media and influence their action. According to Gandy, "An
information subsidy is an attempt to produce influence over the actions of others by
controlling their access to use of information relevant to those actions. This information is
characterised as a subsidy because the source of that information causes it to be made
available at something less than the cost a use would face in the absence of subsidy" (p.
61). Press releases, media kits, briefing documents, research studies, privately funded
research reports and other type of information provided to journalists are examples of
information subsidy. Information subsidies save the time and resource of journalists to
identify topics and research news stories (Tench and Yeomans, 2017). Cost and time
constraints of media is said to be the reason for use of such subsidised information by
journalists.

3.6.3 Defining Media Relations
Media Relations, as the name suggests, is about the organisation's relationship with
media outlets and journalists. As defined by Johnston (2013, "media relations is the
ongoing facilitation and coordination of communication and relationships between
an individual, group or organisation and the media" (p.6).
According to Jethwaney (2018), Media Relations is a term used for "maintaining
working relationship with representatives of the media fraternity who cover the
organization" (181).
Swann (2014) describes media relations is as the relationship between organisation
and the editors and reporters of the mass media that work as channels of
communication to reach out the organisation‟s stakeholders. Ridgway (1996) states
that "the term 'media relations' refers to the communication pattern between an
organisation and those sections of the media which are interested in its activities.
Such communication may be concerned with anything and everything which
happens within and around that organisation" (p. 5).
According to Lattimore, Baskin, Heiman, and Toth (2012), "media relations refers to
"Activities intended to build open channels of communication between an
organization and the media, as a way of sharing news and features of potential
interest to media audiences" (p. G-5). Supa and Zoch (2009) state that “media
relations is the systematic, planned, purposeful and mutually beneficial relationship
between a public relations practitioner and a mass media journalist” (as cited by
Supa, 2014, p. 2).
From the definitions we can say that media relations is all about planning and
nurturing communication and relationship with media, which includes journalists,
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editors, producers and media owners who control and contribute to the content of the
media. It involves the communication efforts to reach various target audience and
build or maintain reputation of an organisation or brand through third party, which is
media.As Horton (2009) says, "media relations is persuading a generator of content
to consider and write about a product, service or issue without paying the content
generator to do so" (as cited by Rousseau and Puttajaru, 2014, p. 36). He further
writes, "Media relations relies on a practitioner's talent for selling a story through
understanding the content generator's preferences, the needs of target individuals
and the ability of the media relations practitioner to bring the two together. This, in
turn, depends on the content generator's belief in the message-sender's honesty
about the product, service or message. If the generator believes the message-sender
is fraudulent, he will only publish material that is negative" (as cited by Rousseau
and Puttajaru, 2014, p.36).
3.6.4 Importance and Objectives of Media Relations
Not just publicity, media relations plays a significant role in overall corporate
communication practice. Since media is one of the most credible and strongest
influencers in the society, effectiveness of media relations activities by an
organisation impacts its relationship with stakeholders. Supa (2016) states that
"research has shown that organisations that have a media presence are best
positioned to influence both the media and public agenda, as the media's ability to
influence public opinion is greatest than that of the individual organisations" (p.
437). Here are some reasons why media relations holds significance for
organisations.
 Wining Public Trust & Credibility: Public is more influenced by the people
they trust. Media enjoys huge trust and credibility in the society. Common
people believe what they see or read in media. When a news story in media
presents an organisation in positive lights it enhances reputation of the
organisation. But negative news can be more damaging. It can affect the
reputation as well as operation of the organisation.
 Reaching more people with less Cost: Mass media is an excellent vehicle to
reach wider audience. News coverage about the organisation or brand in mass
media reaches huge number of people. It helps in building awareness about the
brand or product among many people. Also news coverage in mass media is
almost free. It depends upon the corporate communication professional's skill in
persuading the journalists or media to publish or broadcast news about the
company.
 Getting Third Party Endorsement: As we discussed earlier, coverage in mass
media is considered to be a third part endorsement. This is because media is
(considered to be) an independent entity having no affiliation to any product or
business brand. Third Party Endorsement is a powerful tool to build and improve
reputation.
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Drawing Attention of Media: As said by Argenti (2013) media is both a
constituency and conduit for disseminating information. It is an important
stakeholder for organisations. Media can also be helpful in not just creating
awareness but also influencing policy, practice and opinion. Good professional
relationship with media makes it easier to draw their attention and get positive
coverage. Everyday journalists get hundreds of press releases and other
information. The better relationship we have with media, the higher is the chance
that the press release would be picked up for a story.
Managing Crisis Situation: Crisis is what Journalists relish. But crisis can make
serious damage to the organisation's reputation and /or operation. Negative
reporting during crisis can further damage the organisation. Good media
relations helps in minimising this damage by positively projecting the
organisation. It also helps in communicating with many stakeholders very fast.
Good media relations also helps in reaching the right journalists faster, which is
very important in crisis management
Monitoring the Environment: Journalists interact with various people,
including the administration, government officials, local community even
investors (in case of business reports), who are important stakeholders for an
organisation. During the interaction they also get several information,
expectation of the stakeholders, about the organisation. If the organisation has
very good relationship with media, journalists also share such information or
suggestion based on such information with the corporate communication
managers of the organisation. Such information helps the organisation in
managing the stakeholders.

In summary, good media relations helps in getting good media coverage, which
contributes the organisations in several ways. For example suppose a dairy company
is having good relationship with media. When the journalist makes a story about
milk industry, he/she would prefer to have an expert opinion from an industry
expert. He/she would approach the CEO of the dairy company for the expert opinion
or 'quote'. When such quote is mentioned in the news and the organisation's
representative or management is mentioned as an expert, it adds value to the overall
reputation and credibility of the organisation. Frequent such mentions makes the
organisation an authority within the industry.
Objectives of Media Relations
Media Relations has one basic purpose i.e. to build a favourable relationship with
journalists, editors, producers and owners of media to get positive media coverage.
In other words, media relation always seeks to maximise publicity of good things
and minimise publicity of negative things. The broad objectives of media relations
can be:
 Building and nurturing a favourable relationship with media persons working in
print, electronic and online publications and channels.
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Winning and retaining the confidence of journalists, reporters, desk editors,
producers and owners of media.
Providing newsworthy information to the media to get publicity and promote the
organisation
Maximising positive coverage and Mitigating negative coverage / criticism in
media
Increasing awareness about the organisation and its product or services through
positive coverage in news, articles, interviews and other editorial contents
Establishing the organisation as a dependable partner for communication and
worthy of media attention
Getting media support in time of crisis

3.6.4 Tools and Techniques of Media Relations
There are different tools and techniques to build and manage effective media
relations in order to reach out journalists and generate good coverage in media. The
choices are quite wide and are evolving with technological development. The kind of
tool and technique adopted by the corporate communication professionals also
impacts the attention of the media and the coverage. Let's briefly discuss some of the
important tools and techniques used for media relations.
a) Press releases:
Press Release is one of the oldest tools of media relations. It refers to a document in
printed or electronic format, prepared and issued by organisations to news media for
announcing or informing something having news value. Also known as news
release, media release, or press statement, it is one of the effective tools to connect
with journalists. The main objective of a press release is to inform and convince the
reporters to make a story in the media. Press releases are used to announce or
inform newsworthy occurrences, events or achievements that can be an opportunity
for good publicity. It is also used to negate negative news publication, share opinion
or views of the organisation on some issues, clarify something, and even to send
information about crisis or negative events. Though journalists are primary target
audience for a press release other stakeholders such as bloggers, investors, experts,
government officials and even general public also depend upon on press releases,
when published online, for information, as it is considered to be an official
document.
Types of Press Release: According Jethwaney (2018), press releases can be of
different kinds. Some of them are:
 Announcement Release: Press Releases that announces something important,
e.g. launch of a new product, opening of a new office or declaration of financial
results etc.
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Created Press Release: This type of press releases shares information about
events created for drawing media attention, for example inviting a VVIP or
celebrity to the premises or events.
 Spot Press Release: Such press releases are spontaneously written and shared to
inform the media about a crisis situation, for example press release to share
announcement about factory closure, accidents etc.
 Response News Release: Such type of press releases are written and sent to
media as reaction to something published in the media..
 Feature News Release: Such type of press releases covers developmental stories
or features about the organisation.
 Bad News Release: These types of press releases are issued in a reactive
situation such as crisis. Like spot press release, the organisation shares news
which may not be good for its reputation but is important for public interest.
Elements of a press release: A press release is usually written in inverted pyramid
structure as in case of writing a news story. It should be drafted as close as possible
to the way a reporter would have written it. The idea is to make the job easier for the
journalists. The less editing they have to do, they more chances that they would
prefer to take the press release for the story. It answers the 'what, who, when, where,
why, and how‟ about the matter or event covered in the press release. It starts with a
compelling and good headline to draw attention of the journalist. It should be written
in a language in which the media publishes the story and/or the journalist writes the
news. The elements of a press release are:
 Headline: Like news stories Headlines in a press release refers to the title of the
press release, summarising important points of the information given. It is given
in larger text at the top of the page. The headlines need to be attractive enough
for journalists and
editors of news media.
 Sub-Headline: SubHeadlines (also known
as deck) is the short
text in one or two
sentences that gives
important highlights of
the
information
covered in the press
releases. Use of sub
headlines is optional.
When a press release is
complex or long with
too much information,
sub-headlines
are
preferred. It helps the
journalists to have better
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idea about what the press release contains. It is given below the headline and
before the dateline, in fonts smaller than that of the headlines.
Dateline: It gives from where and when the press release generated. It is given at
the start of the press release, after the headline (and sub-headline, if any),
clearing informing about the originating place and date and the press release. It
shows how up to date the press release is. Journalists won't prefer to take press
releases with older dateline.
Introduction: It is same as intro of the news stories. Also known as 'lead', it is
the first paragraph of the press release that covers the most newsworthy
information. It answers to question of what, when, who, where and why.
Body: This section elaborates the details, statistics, background and other
relevant information. It is given in inverted pyramid style with most important at
first, followed by the other details in decreasing order of importance.
Boilerplate: It is a short and standardised paragraph that concisely describes
organisation that issues the press release. It is independent of the contents of the
press release and is given at the end. It can be used by the journalists for
additional information and/or have an overview of the organisation and its
business. It can have link to the website of the organisation.
Media Contact: This section is last part of the press release and contains the
name, email address, phone number, address and other contact details of the
person who can facilitate more about what is given in the press release. It helps
the journalists, who need more information or explanation about something, to
get in touch with the organisation.

After writing or developing the press release, it is important to send it to journalists
who would actually process it. Press releases are usually accompanied a good
photograph or infographic as per the content. Previously it was delivered to
journalists physically in printed or electronic formats. However, with development
of technology, journalists prefer it to receive it via email and mobile apps such as
WhatsApp or Telegram. Once it is sent to media it can be posted in the corporate
website, so that anyone can access it. While sending press releases through email, it
can be sent in attachments and or within body of an email. The email can also
contain the link to the press release on the website of the company. While sending
the email the headline of the press release may be given as subject of the email.
Press Release Distribution Service that sends the press releases to various media
outlets and journalists of different category can also be used. It depends upon how
the journalist or target media prefers to get the press release. It can be customised for
different category of media or journalists to best suit their preference. The press
release must be sent within the deadline of the journalist or media organisation. After
sending the press release it is also important to follow up with the journalist to
improve the chances of its publication. This is because, everyday a lot of press
releases are received by the media or journalists. The press release of the
organisation may be lost in the number of such releases. Following up with
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journalists helps in drawing their attention as well as ensure that they have received
the press release.
b) Press Conference
Press Conference, also known as news conference is a meeting or media event in
which an organisation or newsmaker invites journalists to share information having
high news value. If more than one entity organise the press conference, it is called a
joint press conference. press conference allows the organisations or newsmakers to
officially circulate information to mass media and journalists get opportunity to
interact with and ask question to the organisation's representative (usually senior
management) or newsmaker. It is one of the traditional tools of media relations. In
press conferences the news information is released to all media simultaneously. It is
an effective tool to disseminate consistent message to mass media for generating
coverage or communicating a specific message to the wider public through media.
However, it should be organised for really important events or announcements, not
for trivial or routine activities.
Organisations usually conduct press conferences for significant events or
announcements like, merger or takeover, corporate changes, introduction of new
product or brand, response to some accusations or crisis and release of financial
results etc. When the occasion is truly newsworthy, press conference is really useful.
Otherwise it may be a waste of time for the organisation as well as the media.
Advantages of Press Conferences are
 It allows to simultaneously reach multiple journalists from different media
outlets with controlled and consistent messaged.
 It allows to disseminate more information than what press release can do
 It is interactive. Journalists can get their queries answered immediately.
Organisations can also explain and emphasise important points
 It can help in building excitement and anticipation
 It generates good publicity or coverage
Besides being newsworthy, press conference is effective only when it is well
organised. A poorly organised press conference may backfire and result in negative
coverage in media. Venue, spokesperson, media kits and other logistics should be
well prepared for success of a press conference. Preparation for a press conference
should start well in advance, except for crisis situation. Let's discuss some important
aspects of organising a press conference:
Timing: First of all it is important to decide the time. The date and time should not
conflict with other important events that may be more attractive for media or press
deadlines. If the date and time, after announcement, conflicts with other more
newsworthy events the press conference can be pre or postponed as per convenience.
The journalists need to get enough time to make the story.
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Venue: Location of the press conference is also equally important for attendance of
media. It should be convenient and easy to reach for invited journalists. Usually,
hotels, press clubs or the office of the organisation is preferred for organising press
conferences. Adequate parking area and enough space for sitting should be available.
The place, where the press conference to be organised, should have podium and
stage as well as audio-visual equipment like projector, microphone etc. Electrical
points to source camera and light along with internet/Wi-Fi facility need to be given.
The location should have a raised platform or dedicated space for TV Camera set up.
Venue should have arrangement for refreshment.
Media Kit: Also referred as press kit, media kit a pre-packaged folder containing
information about the issue or programme of the press conference and also about the
organisation. The information should be arranged to facilitate the journalist for
making the news story. General Contents of a press kit are:
• Information about the organisation or individual, organising the press conference
• Fact sheet containing key statistics or background information about the topic
• Press Release for the press conference
• Information about the key executives or spokesperson
• Copies of the speech/remark/presentation (if any) of the spokesperson
• High resolution Photo/video/infographics related to the issue to be covered
• Promotional Collateral such as advertisement, brochures etc.
• Media Contact Information
Media List and Invitation: Media list is a comprehensive list of journalists, editors
and media outlets having proved interest in or important for the organisation. It is
usually maintained by corporate communication managers and updated regularly. If
not done, then before organising press conference it is important to make a list of
journalists who would be invited. The journalists are informed or invited through
media advisory. According to Beger (2018), "A media advisory is a document used
to invite journalists to cover some kind of (corporate) event, such as a press
conference, a guided plant visit or a commented (new) product demonstration" (p.
245).The media advisory need to have details of the date, time, venue and other
required information. It should be short and informative enough to generate interest
of the journalists. The media advisory can be sent well in advance through email or
mobile messaging apps depending upon the convenience of the journalist. A
reminder email or follow up call just one day before the press conference can be
made to ensure good participation.
Spokesperson / Speaker: The press conference is generally facilitated by a
moderator who welcomes the journalists, introduces the subject as well as the
speakers and manages the entire proceedings. The moderator needs to be an
experienced person in handling media and have basic knowledge about the issue.
Usually corporate communication manager of the organisation manages acts as a
moderator.
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The speaker or spokesperson of the organisation who would address the press
conference and answer questions from journalists should be knowledgeable about
the topic and confident. Usually Top executives of the organisation and / or the
expert of the topic act as speaker in a press conference. The spokesperson or
speakers must be trained about how to deal with media. A list of anticipated
questions / difficult questions can be prepared and the speakers must be
briefed/trained about how to respond to them. They should be advised to be honest
and articulate. Off the record comment should be avoided.
Conducting the Press Conference: Once the basic preparation such as time, venue,
speakers and media invitation etc. are ready, then the real event starts. For
conducting the press conference smoothly the corporate communication manager has
to look into various aspects on the day of press conference. The physical and
technical arrangement at the venue can be checked again to ensure that everything is
in place. When journalists reach, they should be greeted personally by corporate
communication manager. A registration desk to be created and journalists after
greetings should be guided to the desk, where their credentials would be entered in
the registration sheet and the press kit would be handed over. The press conference
should be started as per the time given, irrespective of the number of attendance.
The moderators and speakers should be seated facing the media. The moderator
would start the press conference with introduction. Then the speakers would present
the information. Audio Visual aids / presentation can be used for this. The speakers
should avoid lengthy presentation and speak only what is relevant for the media.
After the presentation, the moderator would facilitate the question and answer
session. While answering the questions the speakers should be honest and clear
about what they are saying. If they don't have the answer they should inform the
same to media and offer to answer it later. An ideal press conference runs not more
than One Hour. Once the press conference is over, the journalists may be invited to
join the refreshment. This is a good time to have personal networking with
journalist, especially those representing influential media. The entire press
conference may be recorded for further dissemination or use by the organisation.
After the press conference: Post press conference, press kits and/or recording of the
press conference can be sent to important journalists who could not attend the press
conference for some reason. The corporate communication manager can follow up
with participating journalists to provide any additional information, if required.
c) Embargo
Press Embargo or News Embargo is release of information in advance with a request
and condition that the information provided not to be published until certain date and
time. Colao (2015) define embargo as "an agreement between a source and a media
outlet that information—often contained in a press release—will not be published
until a predetermined time" (pare. 3). According to Tench and Yeomans (2017)
"Embargo is a media relations technique for giving journalists the story in advance,
to help them prepare and schedule their reports or packages, on the understanding
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that publication or broadcast will be held until the agreed launch date" (p. 275). It is
often used for announcing a new product, research outcome or government's policy
initiatives.
Embargoes serve various purposes. It also helps in drawing attention and interest of
journalists. It reduces the inaccuracy in news reporting as journalists get time to
research and understand the issue. It ensures that all the media outlet get equal
access to the information, which generates good coverage in various media on same
day. The organisation can answer queries from media on the issue. Reporters can
schedule their stories according to the deadline set in the embargo. News embargos
are based purely on trust between the corporate communication managers and
journalists. However, embargoes need to be used as sparingly as possible because in
the competitive environment, journalists have a tendency to 'break' the news once
they get it. Also before releasing a press embargo, adequate planning, about how to
respond if someone breaks the embargo, need to be done.
d) Exclusives
An exclusive is a piece of news given only to one journalist or media outlets. Other
journalists or media outlets can be provided the news some time later. It is a very
traditional but risky tool of media relations. It is risky because when the corporate
communication manager shares the news or information with one media outlets,
other media outlets may get upset, affecting the relationship with them. Rest of the
media may not carry the story, if it is already carried exclusively by one media
outlet. Since exclusives are very attractive for media to break the news ahead of their
competition, it helps in strengthening good relationship with the select journalist or
media outlets. It enhances the trust between the journalist and the corporate
communication manager. The journalists who gets the exclusive story pushes hard to
get the story published or aired. But exclusives need to have very high news value.
Also depending upon one single media outlet or journalist has its own demerits.
Exclusives are always targeted at big and powerful media outlets or niche media for
maximum impact. Complicated stories can also be used for exclusives. Other reason
for using exclusive can be to make the story attractive for a particular influential
media or journalist or if the target publication publishes only excusive stories.
However, exclusives should be used very cautiously.
e) Media Interviews:
Media Interview is an interaction between a representative of an organisation and
journalist for the purpose of coverage. In the interview the journalist asks questions
on certain issue or topic, which are answered by the organisation's representative.
The interaction is covered in the media to which the journalist belongs. According to
Hayes, Hendrix, & Kumar (2013), "whether given to print or broadcast journalists,
interviews provide the most direct contact between the client and the media. The
practitioner‟s role in this situation is that of a link, or coordinator, and sometimes
also that of a trainer or coach for the client" (p. 57).
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The interview can happen in person, in which the journalist and the representative of
the organisation are face to face. It can be in the office, or at the sidelines of a
meeting or conference or at any other places. It can also happen over telephone, in
which the journalist and the interviewee interact over telephone. Now video
conferencing is also used. For broadcast media the interaction is recorded in camera.
It can be live or recorded. And if both the journalist and the representatives are busy
enough to find a mutually suitable time, interview can happen through email or
written format. In such case, the journalists send a bunch of question and the
interviewee replies the same in writing. Media interview can also happen through
proactive effort by the organisation. In this case the corporate communication
manager of the organisation approaches strategically selected media outlet or
journalist to conduct a interviews.
Whatever the format, media interviews are good opportunity to showcase important
work of the organisation or further an issue. It allows sharing information in details,
explaining complex issues, creating interest as well as building awareness. Not just it
helps in disseminating strategic messages it also helps in building credibility of the
interviewee and the organisation represented by him/her. However in order to
maximise benefits from media interviews, it requires serious preparation. If it is not
handled well, it can also backfire.
A successful media interview involves three phases; Pre-Interview, Interview and
Post Interview. Pre-Interview phase consists of primarily preparation for the
interview. The corporate communication manager coordinates with the journalist to
schedule the date and time as well as to finalise the mode and topic of the interview.
Once these are decided, it is important to select the key message for dissemination.
Possible questions, including difficult questions need to be listed and the interviewee
needs to be briefed about how to respond. The profile of the journalist who would be
interviewing can also be shared with the interviewee. If required the interviewee can
be given the media training to handle the interview. The media training can include
how to deal with media, body language, dress and appearance, messages to
highlight, guidelines on interview format, how to deal with tricky situation or
difficult questions etc. Mock interview or role playing before the actual interview is
also helpful, especially if the interviewee is inexperienced in dealing with media. In
addition to these, the corporate communication manager need to coordinate with the
journalist to provide background information related to the topic of the interview, the
organisation and the profile of the interview. This would be helpful for the journalist
to prepare and get a perspective. McLean (2012) suggests to consider the following
factors while preparing for an interview:
 Topic: What willbe the range or scope of the interview? How can you prepare
yourself so you are better able to address specific questions? Ask for the list of
questions in advance, and anticipate that you will be asked questions that are not
listed. Prepare for the unexpected and you won’t be caught off guard.
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Time: What’s the time frame or limit? A 15-minute interview may not require as
much depth as one that lasts an hour or more.
Format: How will you be interviewed? Will it be through audio or video, over
the Internet, over the telephone, or in person?
Background: What’s the backstory on the interview? Is there a specific issue or
incident? Is there a known agenda? Why is the interview now and not earlier or
not at all? Why is it important? (p. 571)

On the day of interview first of all greet the journalist and make him/her
comfortable. During interview, the interviewee should respond confidently and
honestly. Answers should be given in clear and concise but long enough so that the
journalist can get quotes out of it. The interviewer should stick to points which the
organisation wants to highlight. If the answer is not known, the interviewee should
not guess or bluff the answer. He/she can say that she/he doesn‟t have the
information right now but would find out and get back to the journalist. "Off the
record" should always be avoided. Eye contact with the journalist and body language
of the interviewee during interview is very important. The interviewee should not
argue with the journalist or lose his/her temper during the interview. If the journalist
asks question with false information or assumption, he/she can be corrected tactfully
by the interviewee. Jargons and abbreviations should be avoided and technical
information should be presented in simple language. The corporate communication
manager can be present in the interview to facilitate or manager any glitch during the
interview. Once the interview is over, it is important to keep a track on when it will
be published or broadcast. The corporate communication manager may coordinate
with the journalist to provide additional information or perspective on the topic.
After publication or broadcast, it can be evaluated whether the interview covered all
the important points and its impact on target audience.
f) Pitching to the media
According to Seitel (2017) "the activity of trying to place positive publicity in a
periodical, on a news site, or in the electronic media—of converting publicity to
news—is called pitching" (p. 220) . It is the practice of persuading the media that the
story idea is newsworthy with the hope that it would get covered. Pitching to the
media aims at drawing attention of the journalists to a story idea and getting the
news story published. It is one of the critical activities in media relations and
requires special skill. Media pitch refers to the letter or email or even the phone call
sent to the journalist persuading him/her to make a news story. It is like a proposal to
sell the story idea on a certain topic or issue. Media pitch can take several forms
such as email, a phone call, a social media post or even a text message. But email
remains the most preferred method to pitch a news story.
The corporate communication managers need to finalise the story idea and gather
necessary documents and links to support the proposed story. The story idea should
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be newsworthy and relevant. Pitching to media also requires basic research about the
journalist and his/her preference, beat, and stories done by him/her in past.
Knowledge about the target media outlets, their preference of stories, editorial policy
etc. would also be very helpful. The media pitch should target select influential
journalists from leading media outlets. It should not be sent to all the journalists in
the media list.
While crafting the media pitch, it is important to write it in concisely but clearly. If it
is being sent by email, the subject line should present what's in the email. Generic
subject line should be avoided. The pitch can have a catchy opening and angle that
may create interest of the journalist. The first paragraph should highlight the most
important points. This can be followed by more details and facts about the story and
its importance for the audience of the media. It can end with information on how to
contact the organisation or corporate communication managers for further
information. Instead of attachments, links for the images and other background
information can be shared. Media Pitch for each journalist or media should be
customised and send individually. After sending the media pitch, the corporate
communication manager should follow up with the journalist to whom pitch has
been sent. If required additional information may be supplied to make it more
attractive. Besides news worthiness of the media pitch and other factors, the
relationship between corporate communication manager and the journalist is very
crucial for success of a pitch. Once the journalist accepts the media pitch, he/she
may require support for more information or having an interview / meeting with the
representative of the organisation. The corporate communication manager needs to
support him/her for this.
g) FAM Trip
FAM Trip is an abbreviation for familiarization trip. It is one of the traditional media
relations technique in which an organisation offers a tour to one or more journalists
to visit its project site, factory, work site or other facilities, so that the media can get
familiar with. It allows the media to have their personal observation and experience.
Organisations get opportunity to make the visiting journalists experience and
understand the issue or topic first hand. FAM trips are very helpful in generating
favourable publicity, improving understanding of the media about the organisation
or issue and building / strengthening relationship with media.
Usually, the organisation makes arrangement for transportation, food and stay
arrangement for the visiting media. Some media organisations also insist on paying
the same to avoid conflict of interest. Some media take the arrangement by the
organisation and mention, at the end of the report that the reporter was on a
sponsored FAM Trip. It is usually organised for one or two days, depending upon
the convenience of the journalists.
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While organising a FAM Trip it is important to select and invite the media.
Journalists, who cover the beat in which the organisation operates or who have
previously written about the organisation should be invited. It is also important to
select and invite journalists of same level, so that they can be comfortable with each
other. A senior journalist like Editor may not be comfortable with a very junior
person like a city reporter. Information about participating journalists can be shared
among all the group members. It is also important to plan the itinerary appropriately
and share with all group members. The itinerary should not full of official
engagements. The visitors should be given some time for leisure or visiting local
tourist attraction, if any. The organisation need make proper plan what to show and
what message to disseminate. Like press conferences, the spokesperson or select
speaker should interact with the visiting media, though the trip would be coordinated
and facilitated by the corporate communicating managers. The speaker or
spokespersons should be trained how deal with media, possible questions and
answers, how to manage difficult questions, dress and appearances etc. A press kit
should be ready for sharing with the visiting media. Before start of the trip, the
journalists may be given about background information and document, so that they
can prepare themselves. The visit can be end with briefing by the organisation's
spokesperson or speaker to answer queries or share more information. It would be
similar to a press conference. Arrangement for internet/compute can be made so that
the journalists can file their stories. After the FAM Trip some journalists may require
additional information, photographs or video. The Organisation should make them
available.
Media Tour
Media tour or Press Tour is a planned and coordinated effort in which a series of
meeting between he representative of the organisation and media outlets are
organised with an objective to build relationship and generate positive coverage. The
representative tours different locations to meet the journalists. Unlike FAM Trip, the
organisation visits the media in media tour. though it is stressful, it is helpful in
building rapport with media persons, explaining complex subject, building a positive
impression about the organisation and also good coverage. Before organising the
press tour it is important to decide on the goal of the tour and key message to be
disseminated.
h) Media Monitoring
Media monitoring refers to the process of keeping track of relevant coverage by
various media outlets. It involves reading or watching the news covered by the
media regularly and then identifying as well as recording the editorial content for
analysis and sharing. Though this is not a technique for connecting or building
relationship with media, it is very helpful in understanding the media as well as the
journalists. Corporate Communication managers regularly scan through various
media to understand who's saying what about their organisation, its key executives,
its competition, product or brand, industry or any other topics of importance.
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Initially, media monitoring was done manually in which a corporate communication
executive would scan through all print publications and identify relevant stories.
Now there are various technology enabled tools available to monitor the media. One
such example is 'news alert'. It can immediately send an email to given email
whenever there is news in the web containing the desired key word.
Just know what is covered in media is not enough. Media monitoring is useful when
it is analysed appropriately. The analysis can provide valuable insights that help the
organisation in improving their corporate communication activities. Findings of
media monitoring as well as its analysis are shared with the senior management to
keep them up to date with media and external environment. If the news is published
in a language which the key executives do not understand, the news coverage
(known as news clipping) is sent with translation of important points covered in the
story. While tracking the news coverage, the date or time of story published/telecast,
edition, headline, page number, journalist who made the story (if it is a by-line
story), tone of the story etc. are recorded.
i) Online Newsroom
Like Investor Relations Page of the website, online newsroom primarily aims to
cater to the information needs of the media. It is a dedicated website or webpage in
the corporate website containing various information and resources relevant for
media. It is also called digital newsroom, online pressroom or media centre in the
website. Though journalists are the primary target audience, it also serves other
stakeholders such as investors and consumers, who are interested to get updates
about the organisaiton. Using digital technology, online newsrooms use is one of the
best platforms to disseminate message in creative way. It helps journalists to avail
information about the brand or the organisation easily and conveniently. It acts as a
repository of information about the organisation with 24x7 access. Elements of an
effective online newsroom are:
• Search Facility: Visitors should be able to search for information they are
looking for.
• Press Releases: All the current as well as old press releases can be given in the
press release section of the website.
• Media Contact: The newsroom should have the name, phone number and email
address, so that they can contact him/her directly for further information.
• Photo & Video: Photos and videos relevant to the news as well as describing
activities or updates about the organisation should be posted to facilitate quick
access by the journalists. Animations and infographics can also included
• Media Coverage: The newsroom can also contain coverage about the
organisation by various media. It acts as background information and shows
importance of the company.
• Email Alert and RSS Feeds: The newsroom should have facility to signup
journalists for news alerts or RSS Feeds, so that they can get updates regularly.
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Background Info: Profile of the company, its brand, manufacturing facilities,
product information, awards and honours etc. can be posted in the newsroom.
Journalists interested for in-depth information about the organisation can use it.
Executive Bio: Information about the key executives along with their profile and
photo
Upcoming Events: Informational about upcoming events can help the journalists
to plan their stories
Social Media Links: Social media links of the organisaiton can be given
prominently. A social media grid can be given so that the journalist can get a
quick glance of the organisation's social media activities
Corporate Communication Materials: Various corporate communication
materials such as Logo of the company in various format and resolutions,
photographs of important facilities or event, brochure, corporate films etc can be
included.
Other Information: Other information like, financial data, corporate
presentations, annual reports, product brochures or information, corporate film
etc. are also given.

The online newsroom should be simple and organised so that the journalists find it
easy to access the information. Overcrowding or cluttering may move the media
away from the newsroom and create a negative image of the organisation. The link
to the online newsroom should be available prominently in the homepage of the
corporate website, so that journalist can easily access the same. It should project a
positive image of the organisation. Most important aspect is creation and publication
of content regularly. The content need be up to date and relevant. If journalists find
the newsroom with out-dated information, they may not visit it again.
j) Social Media
Most of the journalists use various social media platforms to gather information,
reporting as well as sharing their work. This makes it one of the attractive tools for
organisation to manage their media relations activities. Social Media platforms can
be used for:
 Identify and understanding the journalist: Social media helps organisations to
find various journalists, who write about the organisation, it industry or its
competition. Once the organisation identifies the journalists, social media can
also be useful in understanding the journalists, their interest, stories written by
them in past etc. Such understanding about the journalists and their work would
better equip the corporate communication manger to effectively communicate
with them as well as plan their media relations activities.
 Connecting with the Journalists: Proactively building relationship with the
journalists is one of the important tasks of corporate communication. Social
media can be used to initiate conversation with target journalists by posting a
thoughtful comment or reply to the tweet or post by the journalists. It can also
started by sharing industry reports, research findings, important update about the
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organisation or a policy update. Such regular conversation would help to
establish relationship with the journalists. Even if the journalist knows the
corporate communication manager, such proactive communication helps in
strengthening the existing relationship.
Gathering Intelligence: A lot of conversation goes on in social media. Different
people may be talking about the organization, the industry in which it operates its
competitions and its key executives. Monitoring these conversations would be
helpful in generating useful insight about the external environment and keep a
track of the organisation's reputation. Such insights are helpful in designing or
redesigning effective messaging for media as well as the target audience. Social
media can also be useful to gather information about media movements and
different story angles.
Promoting Thought Leadership: Organisations can generate and share various
types content on regular basis in the social media platform. The content needs to
be excellent in quality and related to business areas or related industry. It can be
a new insights, finding from a research or opinion on policy related to the
industry. Sharing such content would position the company as an expert in the
field and draw attention of various stakeholders, including media. Journalists
would like to visit the social media page of the organisation to find new story
ideas, information or analysis. This would also improve credibility of the
organisation among the media.
Pitching Story Ideas: Though email is preferred by journalists to receive media
pitch, social media can also be very useful. Social media is effective in
understanding the journalists, their interests, preference and priorities. Based on
this, right journalist can be identified for the media pitch. Also this information
can also help in creating a perfect media pitch to draw attention of the journalist.
There are various online/software tools that can assist in finding journalists, as
well as customising and sending the media pitch. However, while pitching story
ideas, it should be done privately not as a public post.

In the growing digital media environment, social media is one of the important
avenues to establish and strengthen media relations. It is because of some of the key
features of social media such as real time conversation and engagement, dialogic
conversation and facility to develop and share text as well as multimedia. For
catering to the changing environment, the press release is being improved as social
media release and the online newsroom is being developed as social media
newsroom with various social media features. Using social media creatively and
effectively can contribute a lot for overall media relations of an organisation.
k) Op-Ed and Letter to the Editor
Op-Ed is short for opposite the editorial page. It is also called Opinion Editorial. It is
opinion - published in newspapers and magazines - that expresses the views and
opinion of individuals who are not affiliated to the newspaper. It is different from
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editorials, which are written by the editorial which is considered to be the
publication's view. Op-Eds are effective tool in media relations to share opinion of
the organisation on the recent issues or policies and position it as an expert or
through leader in the industry. As Barbara (2012) argue, "Unlike news reporting, the
Op-Ed is subjective writing. It is designed to influence opinion leaders, sway public
opinion, and influence change in the society. In general, it is an essay that takes a
stand or position on a particular issue and sometime provides solution to the
problem" (p. 284).
Unlike the Letter to the Editor, Op-Ed can have about 700 words or longer,
depending upon the media outlets. While writing an Op-Ed it is important to focus
on the issue and present the viewpoint in a simple but persuasive way. It should
provide a fresh perspective or analysis to the issue supported by required facts and
statistics. It should deal with the recent issue. It should be well researched and
informative. A well written and published Op-Ed article can not only help to reach a
wider audience, but also gives lot of prestige and authority to the organisation and
writer. Op-Ed pieces should be published in the name of the CEO or Expert of the
organisation to add credibility and importance to it. Unlike press releases, Op-Ed
articles should be sent to one media outlet at a time.
Letter to the Editor (LTE) is the letter sent to a print publication by its reader about
an issue of concern or in response to a recent coverage by the publication. It allows
the corporate communication managers to express their position and comment on the
editorial coverage in a print publication. It is generally written for expressing views
in support or opposition of an news or opinion published in the newspaper or
magazine, correcting factual errors or providing additional information. According
to Fitch (2012), LTE can be used "to respond to criticism, correct an inaccuracy,
complain about the slant of coverage, point out a missing fact in a story or amplify
an element of the story in an interesting way" (p. 31). It is always written in response
to a recent article, editorial or opinion piece in the publication.
Corporate Communication Managers can use this effective tool for responding to a
negative coverage or educate the media and journalist on the issue. While writing the
LTE, it is important to make it concise and focused. It should not cross 300 words.
Important points may be highlighted in the first paragraph. It should be written in
response to a recent coverage. LTE written in response to news or article in older
issues may not be considered for publication by media. It should also be submitted
as per the rules of the news organisation. It should be written in simple language,
keeping the general readers in mind. LET should clearly cite title of the article to
which it refers, the writer and the date of publication. It should be sent only to the
media which has published the article.
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If effectively planned, written and pitched for publication, both Op-Ed and LTE
provide excellent opportunity to express the organisation's viewpoint on relevant
topics and influence the target audience.
3.7

SUMMARY

Employee Communication, Financial Communication, Consumer Relations and
Media Relations are four important and specialised areas of corporate
communication, each dealing with a specific but important stakeholder group of an
organisation. Employee communication, which broadly refers to the communication
between an organisation and its employees, has strategic importance for
organisations. It contributes for better coordination and collaboration among
employees to achieve the organisational objective, enhance employee engagement
and productivity and improving overall performance.
Financial communication, on the other hand, is about dissemination and disclosure
of financial information and managing relationship with financial stakeholders,
which include management, shareholders, securities analysts and other financial
communities. It also helps to build and strengthen reputation of the organisation
among the financial stakeholders. It shares financial information to analysts,
investors, media, financial institutes, vendors, employees and customer etc. in the
language that presents the right image of company with respect to its operation,
performance and future prospects.
Consumers have vital importance for success and growth of an organisation.
Therefore, the relationship between an organisation and its consumers goes beyond
mere transactions to relationship. Organisations regularly communicate with their
consumers to build relationship and reputation. Consumer Relations refers to all the
activities taken up by an organisation to build and maintains favourable relationship
with its consumers. It is the way that a manufacturer or service provider engages
with its consumers.
Media Relations is the most visible part of Public Relations and Corporate
Communication function. Because of media's strategic importance and influence in
the society as well as their wide reach, organisations always endeavour to build good
relationship with media outlets. Media relations is all about planning and nurturing
communication and relationship with media, which includes journalists, editors,
producers and media owners who control and contribute to the content of the media.
It helps not only to generate good coverage in media, but also to reach various target
audience and build or maintain reputation of an organisation or brand through third
party, which is media.
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3.8

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS
1. What is Information Subsidy?
2.

How a corporate website can be used to facillitate investor relations and
media relations?

3.

What are the features of intranet?

4.

Discuss important channels of communicating with Consumers?

5.

What are the factors that can affect employee communication in an
organisation?

6.

How will you prepare and organise a press conference for declaring annual
financial results of your organisation?
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Edition, Sage
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